

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI PALERMO

Scienze della terra – indirizzo Geochimica Dipartimento di Scienze della Terra e del Mare Settore Scientifico Disciplinare GEO/08

The geochemical cycle of Tellurium in volcanic environments

IL DOTTORE Silvia Milazzo IL COORDINATORE **Prof. Francesco Parello**

IL TUTOR Prof. Francesco Parello CO TUTOR Dr. Walter D'Alessandro

CO TUTOR Dr. Sergio Calabrese

CICLO XXVI ANNO CONSEGUIMENTO TITOLO 2017

Dipartimento di Scienze della Terra e del Mare

The geochemical cycle of Tellurium in volcanic environments



Tutor: **Prof. Francesco Parello** Co-tutor: **Dr. Walter D'Alessandro Dr. Sergio Calabrese** Student: Silvia Milazzo

A Chiara e a Simone

Abstract

This research is focused on the geochemistry of Tellurium (Te) in active volcanic environments. To this end concentrations of Te have been measured on different matrices (plume, ashes, soils, atmospheric depositions and plants). Samples were collected from different volcanoes around the world: volcanic aerosols from Etna and Vulcano (Italy), Turrialba (Costa Rica), Myakejima, Asama and Aso (Japan), Mutnovsky and Gorely (Kamchatka, Russia), Copahue (Argentina), Nyamuragira and Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo); atmospheric depositions from Etna and Vulcano (Italy), Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo); ash from Etna (Italy), Copahue (Argentina), San Miguel (El Salvador). Among with plume and rain samples, several leaves of plants from volcanic areas were collected for biomonitoring investigations: Etna, Vulcano and Stromboli (Italy), Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo), Nisyros (Greece), Gorely (Kamchatka), Turrialba (Costarica), Masaya (Nicaragua), Soufriere (Guadalupe); for comparison plant samples were collected also from an industrial area (Augusta, Italy) and a rural forest (Ficuzza, Italy). Samples of soils were also collected from Nisyros (Greece) to better understand the soil-plant distribution.

From a literature review, there is a scarcity of data available about Tellurium abundances in the environment, expecially for volcanic areas. This fact can be ascribed to the scarce use of this element in the past. During the last decades, the use of Te increased considerably due to its importance for electronics and solar photovoltaic manufacturing. Moreover, the recent natural disaster of Fukushima in March 2011 drew attention to the environmental impact of isotope Tellurium-132, produced after the nuclear power plant failure. As consequence, a lot of new studies are focused on Te behaviour in the environment. Regarding Te plume concentrations and fluxes from active volcanoes, only few estimations were reported in previous studies. Sixty-five plume samples were collected and analysed thus significantly increasing the existing worldwide dataset. The concentrations of Te detected range from <0.003 to 0.15 μ g/m³, significantly higher than the background level.

The atmospheric depositions are the most important way to transfer the elements from the atmosphere to the ground and consequently to all the terrestrial environments (soils, groundwater, plants, animals and humans). Nowadays very few data are available about Te abundances in atmospheric deposition and no data in volcanic environments. The data here reported are the first results of the concentrations of Te in rainwater collected close to active volcanoes. The samples of rainwater samples (bulk deposition) representative of the bulk deposition, were collected from three different volcanoes (Etna, Vulcano and Nyiragongo). A total of 98 rainwater samples were analysed for the major and minor constituents including Te, so creating a complete and unique dataset. The results show clearly higher Te contents close to the crater with values up to $3.20 \ \mu g/l$ with respect to far away background values below $0.04 \ \mu g/l$, suggesting a volcanogenic origin. In particular, the concentrations of Te, among with other volatile metals e.g. As, Bi, Cs, Cu, Cd, Tl, Pb, are inversely correlated with pH values. This trend confirms that the volcanic emissions can significantly impact the chemical composition of atmospheric deposition. In the same way it influences the geochemical cycle of Te, causing a major accumulation into the soil-plants system. Interesting results were obtained by chemical analysis of Te contents in ash leachates. As well as for rainwaters, no data of volcanic ashes leachates are reported in the literature. For this study we

analysed the fresh ashes ejected from: Copahue (Argentina) emitted in December 2012, after 12 years of inactivity; Etna (Italy), collected during 20 paroxysmal events occurred in 2011 and 2012; San Miguel (El Salvador) erupted in December 2013. The samples, when possible, were divided in the different grain size, otherwise the bulk grain size was studied. The results highlight the rapid dissolution of Te from the ash surface indicating high mobility of this element among with other known mobile metals. Te is probably carried out during the volcanic explosion forming hydro-soluble salts with the main acid volatile species (SO_2, HCl, HF) , $Te(SO_4)_2$, $TeCl_4$ and TeF_4 but also in elemental form. As expected, the experiments showed that the Te concentrations increase with decreasing grain size, due to the increase of specific surface of the ash. This process, including Te dissolution, have important implications on atmospheric deposition chemistry: when the smaller particles are injected into the atmosphere they can be transported for long distance from the source-point, participating in the cloud processing and affecting sequentially the chemistry of the rain, plants and soils in the surrounding of active volcanoes.

The plants commonly contain low contents of Te with variable range. The highest concentration of Te is reported in onion and garlic (up to 300 μ g/g) and the characteristic garlic odour is caused by vapours of dimethyl telluride. In the last frame of this study, leaves of 11 species were collected and analysed from 9 different volcanic areas; for comparison samples from an industrial area (Augusta) and a rural area (Ficuzza) were also investigated. The same species but in different volcances are featuring the same range, while plants that bioaccumulate more Te are *Senecio sp.*, mosses and lichens with values up to 0.575 μ g/g. At Nisyros island (Greece), concentrations of Te in two indigenous plants (*Cistus sp.* and *Erica sp.*) were compared with those in the soils. For this study, the soil samples were taken in the Lakki Plain caldera inside and outside the main fumarolic areas. Also in this case, the data show the influence of volcanic emissions on Te concentrations inside the caldera (0.056 – 0.746 µg/g) are higher than the local background (0.004 µg/g). Comparing the soil with the plants, the values of Te in plants tend to grow with the increase of this element in soils. The plants, particularly *Cistus*, tend to take up more Te near the active fumarolic areas. The results showed very high enrichments of Te in volcanic emissions comparable with other volatile elements like selenium, arsenic, thallium and bismuth.

Concluding, the results of this study increase our knowledge about abundances and distribution of Te in volcanic areas, providing a great amount of unpublished data regarding Te, among with many others major and trace elements, in different matrices. We highlighted the prevailing volcanogenic origin of Te and the potential impact of this toxic metalloid on the environment. The results also suggest a primary transport of Te in the volatile phase, probably in gaseous form (as also suggested by recent studies) and/or as soluble salts (halides and/or sulfates) adsorbed on the surface of volcanic particles and ashes. Comparison between different volcanic systems, Etna and Nyiragongo with persistent passive degassing from one side and Nisyros without a volcanic plume, suggest a bioaccumulation of Te in vegetation both from soils and directly from the atmosphere, confirming the high geochemical mobility of this element in volcanic emissions. New flux estimations confirm the relevance of this element in the total volatile output from active volcanoes. The first estimates of volcanic flux of tellurium from Etna range from 0.26 to 12.3 tons per year, confirming that this volcano is one of the biggest point sources to the atmosphere also for

this element. The new dataset, among with previous data, allowed to extrapolate a Global Volcanogenic Flux of Te (GVF-Te) through the Te/SO₂ ratios and the global budget of SO₂ from active volcanoes taken from literature. The total output estimated range from 15.3 to 316 ton/a with a median value of 98, coherently with the estimation obtained from previous authors. Moreover, this value is significantly high if compared with the global production of Te (about 500 ton/a in 2010) by human industrial activities.

Acknowledgements

Alla fine di quest'avventura posso affermare che, pur essendo stata una delle esperienze più belle della mia vita, non è stata priva di difficoltà. Prima fra tutte il non aver avuto una borsa di studio che mi ha costretto a dividere il dottorato con altri lavori che hanno, nel tempo, preso sempre più spazio, ma è pur vero che senza un lavoro non avrei potuto continuare la mia ricerca.

A maggior ragione ripensando a questi anni diventa ancora più importante per me ringraziare tutte le persone che mi hanno aiutato e che, ognuno a proprio modo, sono state fondamentali affinché concludessi questo percorso.

Innanzitutto ringrazio il mio team di lavoro, in particolare il mio tutor, Franco Parello, che mi ha sempre incoraggiato e aiutato dal punto di vista professionale ma anche umano con il suo contagioso ottimismo. Ringrazio i miei co-tutor, Walter D'Alessandro, il mio guru scientifico, e Sergio Calabrese, il promotore della mia ricerca, che durante questi anni mi hanno supportato in tutte le fasi dal campionamento, all'elaborazione ed interpretazione dei dati, trasmettendomi le loro conoscenze e la loro passione per la ricerca, stimolandomi in continuo a fare di più e a fare meglio e facendomi sentire parte di una squadra.

Un grazie particolare va a Lorenzo Brusca, dell'INGV di Palermo, per il suo fondamentale contributo alla parte analitica del mio studio. Inoltre ringrazio Giovanni Giuffrida, Nicole Bobrowski, Marcello Liotta, Marco Liuzzo, Phil Robidoux per la condivisione dei dati e il supporto scientifico.

Speciali ringraziamenti a Kiki Dasklopoulou per avermi sempre aiutata come collega di lavoro ma soprattutto come amica, a Chiara Catalano che ha iniziato con me questa avventura, unite da un destino comune, con cui spesso ho condiviso gioie e dolori e alla mia saggia consigliera e motivatrice, Silvia Angileri.

Ringrazio i referee, Jens Fiebig e Konstantinos Kyriakopoulos, per il loro contributo. Grazie anche a Eniko Kadar, il prof. Richard Hendy and William Vevers per avermi ospitato all'Università di Plymouth (U.K.) dandomi modo di trascorrere un periodo di ricerca all'estero.

Infine ringrazio la mia fantastica famiglia per il supporto, l'aiuto (a volte anche finanziario) e per aver rispettato le mie scelte anche se non sempre condivise.

Sommario

Introduction9			
1. S	tate of the art	11	
2. S	tudy areas	17	
2.1.	Etna	19	
2.2.	Vulcano	20	
2.3.	Nisyros	21	
2.4.	Nyiragongo and Nyamulagira	22	
2.5.	Copahue	23	
3. M	Interials and Methods	24	
3.1.	Sampling methods	25	
3.2.	Methods of Analysis		
3.2.1.	Analyses of Volcanic Aerosol		
3.2.2.	Analyses of Atmospheric bulk deposition	31	
3.2.3.	Analyses of ash leachates	31	
3.2.4.	Analyses of Soil Samples	31	
3.2.5.	Analyses of Vegetation Samples	32	
3.3.	Tellurium determination by ICP - MS	32	
4. R	esults	37	
4.1.	Volcanic Aerosol	37	
4.1.1.	Volcanic Aerosol Results		
4.2.	Atmospheric deposition	43	
4.2.1.	Atmospheric Deposition - Rain	43	
4.2.1.2	2 Atmospheric Deposition – Rain Results	44	
4.2.2.	Volcanic ash and its contribution to atmospheric deposition	55	
4.2.2.	1 Volcanic Ash Results	56	
4.3	Soil and Plants	60	
4.3.2	Passive Biomonitoring: Plant Results	61	
4.3.3	Soil Results – Nisyros, a case of study	64	
4.3.4	Active Biomonitoring: Moss Bag Results	67	
5. D	Discussion	70	
5.1.	The volatility of Tellurium	71	
5.2.	The enrichment factors	74	
5.3.	Volcanic global budget of Tellurium	80	
5.3.1.	Literature review on Tellurium in volcanic emission	80	
5.3.2.	New estimations		

5.4.	Impact on human health and the environment	84
Conclu	usions	86
Refere	ences	88

Introduction

Tellurium is a metalloid that since its discovery, occurred in the 1782, arose little interest to the scientific community but in the last twenty years the commercial interest for this element is changed, due to its growing use in semiconductor technologies. For example CdTe is used in solar cell batteries, in semiconductor and laser techniques and Bi_2Te_3 and Sb_2Te_3 are used in thermogenerators.

The chemical properties of Tellurium are similar to sulphur and selenium but its activity is less marked and in general the compounds formed are less stable than their analogues of sulphur and selenium. Hydrogen telluride is an unstable gas and a colourless gas, the odour of which is notably different from that of its selenium and sulphur analogues, being less pronounced and faintly recalling that of arseniuretted hydrogen. The gas is poisonous; a bubble inhaled is sufficient to cause a severe attack of vertigo.

The halogen elements are related with good combination with tellurium. Tellurium Hexafluoride, TeF_6 , appears to be more stable than Tellurium Tetrafluoride. The gas has an unpleasant odour, recalling ozone and tellurium hydride.

Tellurium Dichloride, $TeCl_2$, is the first product of the regulated action of chlorine on Tellurium, but it is difficult to prevent further conversion into the tetrachloride. The bivalent Tellurium is not stable and the dichloride in the solid state tends to undergo self-oxidation and reduction, forming a solid solution of the element in the tetrachloride. The dichloride is stable only in the gaseous condition or in solution when in equilibrium with its decomposition products. Tellurium tetrachloride is a colourless crystalline solid. Tellurium burns in air with the formation of the Tellurium Dioxide, TeO_2 and it is very sparingly soluble in water.

Tellurium is recovered in many minerals like telluride together with sulfides and selenides; Tellurium, having two common oxidation states, (IV) and (VI), can be partially oxidized to oxyanions (tellurite, $\text{TeO}_3^{2^-}$, and tellurate, $\text{TeO}_4^{2^-}$, or in the oxide form, TeO_2) (Greenwood, 1994). Instead, the Tellurium exists in the native state in two forms: crystal (bright silvery color with metallic sheen) and amorphous (from dark gray to brown) (Jović, 1999). It has eight natural stable isotopes with atomic weight between 120 and 130. In natural waters, the tellurium (IV), in the form of tellurite (HTeO₃⁻) ion, is probably the main species (Ferguson, 1990).

It is a peculiar element because it presents a higher cosmic abundance than the other elements with atomic mass exceeding 40, but in contrast is also one of the rarest elements on earth. The background levels of tellurium in the crust vary from a few ppb to hundreds of ppm, in relation to the lithology in which it is contained.

Tellurium appears to enter less readily than selenium and sulphur into the composition of organic compounds, it is a toxic element and occurs in large quantities in plants and primary consumers, including humans, 700 μ g/g (Cohen, 1984; Emsley, 1999). It is highly poisonous for mammals and it may cause inhibition of growth, fall-off and paralysis. This suggests that once deposited, this element is very reactive and potentially harmful but, despite the large use in industry, the scientific knowledge about the potential impact of this element on the environment is limited and few previous authors reported result of tellurium concentrations in volcanic area.

In order to better understand the geochemical behavior of this element, considering the scarcity of available data in litterature, the main focus of the study is to create the first dataset of Tellurium abundances in different geochemical sinks (plume, rainwaters, ash, soils and plants) of active volcanic environments. To achieve this main aim the specific objectives are: to define specific protocol for sampling and analysis of tellurium; to create the first dataset about the concentrations of tellurium in different matrices in volcanic environments; to better constrain and understand the geochemical cycle of tellurium in volcanic environments (formation, transport, storage and speciation).

1. State of the art

Tellurium, atomic number 52, is a metalloid and a chalcophile element, according to the Goldschmidt classification. It belongs to the group 16 of the Periodic Table of the Elements along with oxygen, sulfur, selenium and polonium.

In 1782 this element was discovered by Franz –Joseph von Reichenstein, who extracted the new metalloid from an ore of gold, sixteen years later (1798) Martin Heinrich Klaproth named it like the goddess of the "Earth", *Tellus*.

Tellurium can be found in its elemental form in nature, but is most often found in ores such as sylvanite (AgAuTe₄), calaverite (AuTe₂) and krennerite (AuTe₂). It is also present in coal (Moscoso-Perez *et al.*, 2004a, b; Matusiewicz and Krawczyk, 2007).

Since 2000 the tellurium demand has increased significantly, due to its growing use in electronics (Kavlak & Graedel, 2013) (Fig. 1).



Figure 1: World production and use of Tellurium from 1940 to 2010. Data from Kavlak&Gradel, 2013

Tellurium is increasingly used in solar photovoltaics where it is combined with cadmium (CdTe) to form the active layer of cadmium–telluride thin-films. While the use of CdTe is promising for climate change mitigation potential, there are concerns regarding Tellurium availability and whether it might constitute an obstacle to large-scale deployment of CdTe (Kavlak & Graedel, 2013).

In addition to CdTe thin-films, tellurium is used in optical data storage systems (Welnic and Wuttig, 2008), thermoelectric cooling devices in which an electric current causes heat transfer between the two ends of the thermo element and therefore enables cooling on one side, as a metallurgical additive in steels alloys to improve machining characteristics and in copper alloys to improve machinability without reducing conductivity in lead alloys to improve resistance to vibration and fatigue, in cast iron to help control the chill depth, and in malleable iron as a carbide stabilizer (US Geological Survey, 2016).

Other uses include various chemicals, as pigments in glass and ceramics, catalysts for synthetic fiber production, and rubber compounding agents. Rubber compounding was once a large tellurium use, where it was used as a vulcanizing agent to reduce curing time of rubber and increase its resistance to heat and abrasion (Hoffmann *et al.*, 2011). Global consumption estimates for the end use of tellurium are as follows: solar, 40%; thermoelectric power generation, 30%; metallurgy, 15%; rubber applications, 5%; and other, 10% (US Geological Survey, 2016).

Tellurium is obtained from minerals mined for their other constituents. Approximately 90% of tellurium is recovered as a byproduct of copper mining, more specifically from the anode slimes formed during the electrolytic refining of copper (Roskill Information Services, 1982). In electrolytic copper refining, as copper accumulates at the cathode of the electrolytic cell impurities such as tellurium, selenium, silver, gold, and platinum group metals settle in the anode slimes at the bottom of the tank house (Kavlak & Graedel, 2013).

The remaining amount is extracted as a byproduct of lead, gold, nickel, platinum, and zinc mining (US Geological Survey, 2016). Tellurium production may occur in the country where the host metal is refined, or the refinery byproduct may be exported for tellurium recovery elsewhere. Tellurium production began in the United States in 1918 (Roskill Information Services, 1991), in the Soviet Union in 1924 and in Canada in 1934. Today, United States, Russia, Canada, Japan, Peru, Sweden and various other countries are known to produce refined tellurium. World production of tellurium in 2015 is estimated at 400 tons (US Geological Survey, 2016).

For traditional metallurgical and chemical uses, there was little or no old scrap from which to extract secondary tellurium because these uses of tellurium are highly dispersive or dissipative (US Geological Survey, 2016).

Tellurium is one of the most abundant heavy elements in the cosmos (Zemann and Leutwein, 1978), between the elements having an atomic number >40. But it is rare in the earth's crust, where its abundance is estimated to be only 1-5 μ g/kg, according to several sources (e.g. Bowen, 1979; Emsley, 1992; Kabata-Pendias and Pendias, 2000),

it is one of the least abundant elements in the lithosphere. This is probably due to the fact that Tellurium readily forms metal hydrides and most of the element was lost to space during the Earth's formation (Jovic, 1999).

The geochemistry of Tellurium is still poorly known, but it is often compared to that of selenium because tellurium can also exist in the same oxidation states as selenium (-II, 0, IV, VI) and it is mainly found as Te (IV) and Te (VI) in various chemical systems (Brookins, 1988) but in anoxic environments it usually occurs in sulfide ores, replacing S^{2-} (Pohl, 2011).

In oxic solutions Tellurium can form anions of oxic acids, where XO_2 or XO_3 are the oxidized solid form; it is frequently found in iron oxides (Schirmer *et al.*, 2014).

Hein *et al.* (2003) conducted a study about the ferromanganese crusts, the results had shown an extreme enrichment of Tellurium over the Earth's crust and seawater, caused by a surface oxidation process of Te (IV) to Te (VI) on the Fe–Mn oxide surfaces, indeed marine sediments and ferromanganese nodules show high concentrations in Tellurium. Coal and sulfide cores are slightly enriched in Tellurium compared to bulk silicate earth. Furthermore this element does not fit into the crystal lattices of the typical ultramafic minerals (olivine, pyroxene, plagioclase and oxides) for this reason these rocks have the lowest concentrations in Tellurium (Schirmer *et al.*, 2014).

The Tellurium minerals, generally combined with silver, gold, copper, lead, iron and bismuth, are rare in nature. More than 50 tellurium minerals are known mostly in the form of telluride minerals. The tellurides occur in primary hypogene deposits. Secondary Tellurium minerals are relatively rare due to the stability of the native element and many tellurides in the weathering environment. The tellurium is mobile (HTeO³⁻) in zones of high oxidation potential and acid leaching, gossan zones (Lueth, 2016).

Tellurium is found in deposits of other minerals of magmatic origin containing sulphides and is exhaled by active volcanoes and hydrothermal systems.

Active volcanoes have a fundamental role in the transport of volatile elements between the Earth's interior and its surface, being, through the volcanic emissions, a source for many chemicals, such as SO₂, H₂S, HCl, HF, CO₂, H₂O, metals and trace elements (Fulignatti *et al.*, 2006). This is confirmed by incrustations and sublimates present surrounding high temperature fumarolic vents (Symonds *et al.* 1987; Symonds 1992;

Kavalieris 1994; Korzhinsky *et al.* 1994; Fulignati and Sbrana 1998; Taran *et al.* 1995, 2000), by the sublimates collected in silica tubes placed in fumaroles (Le Guern 1988; Bernard *et al.* 1990; Garavelli *et al.* 1997; Cheynet *et al.* 2000; Zelenski and Bortnikova 2005, Zelenski *et al.*, 2013), and from the bioindicator investigation of lichens and mosses (Grasso *et al.* 1999; Varrica *et al.* 2000, Calabrese *et al.*, 2015; Calabrese & D'Alessandro, 2015).

Zelensky *et al.*, (2013) conducted a study about trace elements in the gas emission of Erta Ale deposited in the sublimates on the silica tube walls inserted into vent with high temperature (1084°C), after approximately 50 h of exposure. The temperature distribution along the silica tube with sublimates and main phases of sublimates is show in the figure 2. Volatile Te was deposited mainly in the cold end of the tube, this is evidence of the fact that the tellurium persists in the gaseous phase, indeed only the most volatile trace elements (As, Sb, Se, Te, and Hg) passed through the tube in significant amounts.



Figure 2: Temperature distribution along the tube with sublimates of the gas emission of Erta Ale (Etiopia) and main phases of sublimates where the tellurium deposited is mainly in the cold end of the tube (from Zelensky *et al.*, 2013.

On the island of Vulcano the presence of native tellurium has long been known, in 1898 Cossa identified this element in samples taken inside the crater of La Fossa. After a century the presence of the native Tellurium was confirmed by Fulignatti & Sbrana (1998) that found it in silicified rocks within the crateric fumarolic field of the La Fossa volcano, near high-temperature fumaroles (250–300°C). The Tellurium is present as rounded granules, the size of a few micrometers, associated mostly to amorphous silica (Campostrini *et al.*, 2011).

In this Island the chemical composition of altered rocks associated with sublimate deposition indicate the presence of a significant concentration of Tellurium up to 75 ppm (Fulignatti & Sbrana, 1998).

In generally, in the literature, very few studies reported concentrations of Tellurium in natural waters, soils, sediments and airborne particles, probably because of its very low natural abundance.

The concentrations of tellurium in natural waters reported from previous studies vary from few ng/l to tenths of μ g/l but higher concentrations were found in proximity of anthropogenic sources. The concentrations of tellurium, indicated in the literature, are higher in rivers and lakes than in the open oceans, that reported up to 0.002 μ g/l (e.g. An and Zhang, 1983; Chiou and Manuel, 1988; Yoon *et al.*, 1990; Dave and Pitre, 1991; Fujino *et al.*, 1997; Lee and Edmond, 1985; Najafi *et al.*, 2010) and inland waters (e.g. Chung *et al.*, 1984; Yoon *et al.*, 1990; Najafi *et al.*, 2010).

In rainwater and snow the concentrations of tellurium indicated are from 0.002 and $0.025 \mu g/l$ (Andreae, 1984; Yoon *et al.*, 1990; Belzilea & Chen, 2015).

In soil and sediments the values for total tellurium is in general from less than one to a few $\mu g/g$ depending on locations and sources of contamination. Jovic (1999) reported that the natural abundances of this elements in the soils varies from 0.5 to 37 $\mu g/g$; Reimann and Caritat (1998) estimated the world average Tellurium concentration in soil as 0.006 $\mu g/g$ –dry weight; more recently, the world average Tellurium concentration in soil was estimated in 0.027 $\mu g/g$ (Ba *et al.*, 2010) as reported in Yang *et al.*, 2013, 2014. Tellurium concentrations in aerosols and air particulate matter, reported in the literature, are usually lower than 1 ng/m³ (Belzilea & Chen, 2015).

The Tellurium concentrantions in plants depends on the species analysed, on the level of Tellurium in the soil and in the surrounding environment (Yang *et al.*, 2013).

According to the chemical characteristics of Tellurium in soil, it will not be highly bioavailable to plants, in fact Tellurium has high mobility in soil and its chemical forms are TeO_3^{2-} and TeO_4^2 , but these chemical forms have affinities to Fe(III) (Harada and Takahashi, 2008, Yang *et al.*, 2014).

Regarding the plants, the data of Tellurium reported in literature are generally in the range 0.013–6 μ g/g (D'Ulivo, 1997) and 0,013-0,35 μ g/g (Kabata-Pendias, 2011) for plants with concentration up to about 300 μ g/g in garlic and onions (Kabata-Pendias, 2011); seleniferous plants are able to accumulate Tellurium up to the level of 1 μ g/g (Yang *et al.*, 2014); concentrations <0.001 μ g/g have been measured in wheat and barley (Eriksson, 2001), from 0.018 to 0.033 μ g/g in Japanese herbaceous plants (Asami *et al.*, 1999) and from 0.0001 to 0.0038 μ g/g in different samples of vegetables (potatoes, carrots, radishes, lettuce) (Yang *et al.*, 2013).

There is no known biological role for tellurium but despite its very low abundance in the earth's lithosphere it is the fourth most abundant trace element after Fe, Zn and Rb in the human body (Cohen, 1984) with values up to 770 μ g/g, reported from Hein *et al.*, 2003. It is a toxic element, teratogenic, and tellurite, Te (IV) is considered to be more toxic than tellurate, Te (VI) (Basnayake *et al.*, 2001; Chasteen and Bentley, 2003). The exposition of Tellurium can cause the "*tellurium breath*", with an odor similar to garlic, suggesting a methylation reaction to dimethyl telluride. This suggests that this element is very reactive and potentially harmful but the scientific knowledge about the potential impact of this element on the environment is limited.

2. Study areas

The volcanic areas, sampled in this work, are different for location and geodynamical setting. In figure 3 (modified from Aiuppa, 2015), the chemical composition of the main gases released by some of the volcanoes investigated in this research is shown evidencing a considerable intervolcano variability. The gases can be released either in large quantities during large-scale volcanic eruptions or as persistent and passive release from quiescent or mildly erupting volcanoes (Aiuppa, 2015). The major components of volcanic gases are represented by H₂O, CO₂, SO₂ and H₂S. The volcanic gases released by arc volcanoes are richer in H₂O than the within-plate/rift volcanoes; the water in volcanic gases depends from two processes, the mantle-inherited hydrous composition of source magmas (Wallace, 2005) and the extensive hydrothermal interactions within the crust (Giggenbach, 1996).



Figure 3: The graph shows the H_2O-CO_2 -St (i.e. $SO_2 + H_2S$) gas compositions for some of volcanoes investigated in this research (modified from Aiuppa, 2015).

In this study we are presenting the results of different matrix samples investigated and collected from various volcanoes of the world (Fig. 4). In particular, we collected samples of:

a) volcanic aerosol from: Etna and Vulcano (Italy); Turrialba (Costarica); Myakejima, Asama and Aso (Japan); Mutnovsky and Gorely (Kamchatka, Russian Federation); Copahue (Argentina); Nyamuragira and Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo);

b) atmospheric depositions from: Etna and Vulcano (Italy); Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo);

c) ash from Etna (Italy); Copahue (Argentina); San Miguel (El Salvador);

d) soils from: Nisyros (Greece);

e) plants from i) volcanic (Etna, Vulcano and Stromboli (Italy); Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo); Nisyros (Greece); Gorely (Kamchatka, Russian Federation); Turrialba (Costarica); Masaya (Nicaragua); Soufriere (Guadalupe)), ii) industrial (Augusta, Italy) and iii) rural (Ficuzza, Italy) areas.



Figure 4: The world map indicates the areas (yellow circles) sampled for this study.

The characteristics of some volcanoes sampled during this research are reported in the following paragraphs.

2.1. Etna

Mount Etna, in eastern Sicily, is one of the most active and most intensely monitored volcanoes of the planet (Bonaccorso *et al.*, 2004). It is the biggest volcano in Europe. Etna is a large 0.6 Ma old stratovolcano built upon tensional faults cutting a \approx 20 km thick continental crust (Chester *et al.*, 1985), and formed after the break-up of the African plate margin during its collision with the European continental block since the Upper Miocene (Barberi *et al.*, 1974). The edifice consists of a lower shield unit overlain by a stratovolcano (Chester *et al.*, 1985). The shield complex rests discordantly on Miocene flysch to the NW and argillaceous Pleistocene sediments to the SE.

Etna's present-day volcanic activity consists of persistent passive degassing at the summit craters and from the upper flanks as diffuse soil emanations (Allard *et al.*, 1991; Allard 1997), occasionally interrupted by lava emissions associated with paroxysmal eruptions (Bonaccorso *et al.*, 2004) (Fig. 5). These emissions result from degassing of alkali basalt-hawaiite magma which rises from a shallow mantle diapir (D'Alessandro *et al.*, 1997; Hirn *et al.*, 1997). This persistent activity makes Mt. Etna one of the most interesting volcanoes in the world. It is known as one of the largest global contributors of magmatic gases such as CO₂, SO₂, and halogens (Allard *et al.*, 1991; Allard, 1997; Bruno *et al.*, 1996; Caltabiano *et al.*, 2004; Aiuppa *et al.*, 2005).

Continuous degassing occurs mainly from the four summit craters of the volcano (Voragine, Bocca Nuova, North-East Crater and South-East Crater), while temporary emissions take place during flank eruptions, from fractures and lateral vents.

It has been proposed that the contribution of Mt. Etna to the annual global volcanic budget accounts for about 16% and 19% during active periods for heavy and alkali metals, respectively, and only for 2% and 4% in quiescent periods (Gauthier *and* Le Cloarec, 1998). The chemical composition of Etnean groundwaters has also been extensively investigated in the past (Aiuppa *et al.*, 2000, 2003b; Brusca *et al.*, 2001). The surface of Etna's edifice lacks a real hydrographic network and waters mostly tend to seep and feed the underground circulation, the run-off coefficient being only 5%, and evapo-transpiration about 20% (Ferrara, 1975). The importance of the effective infiltration is highlighted by high outflows at the springs along the perimeter of the volcano, at the contact with the underlying impermeable sedimentary rocks especially

along the coastline, where considerable amounts of water are discharged into the sea (Ogniben, 1966; Ferrara, 1975).



Figure 5: Panoramic view of south east crater during small ash emission.

2.2. Vulcano

Vulcano is an island in the south of Italy located in the Quaternary Aeolian Island Arc. La Fossa is the most recent crater in the middle of the island and it is a volcano-tectonic pull-apart structure (Ventura, 1994). La Fossa cone, formed in the last 6000 years, has passively degassing activity since the last eruption (1888-1890) through a high-temperature fumarolic field (up to 700°C) located at the northern side of La Fossa crater (Fulignatti *et al.*, 2006).

The main fumarolic species are the H_2O and CO_2 but also the acid gases (SO₂, H_2S , HCl and HF) are present in high concentrations, this characteristic indicates that the fumarolic vents are dominated by the magmatic component (Bolognesi and D'Amore 1993; Chiodini *et al.* 1993, 1995; Capasso *et al.* 1997).

 SO_2 and H_2S govern the redox state of high-temperature fumarolic gases of the La Fossa volcano (Chiodini *et al.*, 1993). The fumarolic area is identified by high-sulfidation hydrothermal alteration system (Fulignati *et al.* 1998).

The fumaroles of La Fossa crater are powered by the mixture of magmatic fluids and hydrothermal fluid of marine origin that is completely vaporized in the high temperature zones of the volcanic conduit (Campostrini *et al.*, 2011).

In addition the fumaroles of La Fossa crater introduce into the surficial environment variable concentrations of numerous metallic and trace elements (mainly Pb and Bi, but also Tl, As, Se and Zn) (Fulignatti *et al.*, 2006).

2.3. Nisyros

Nisyros is an island of the South Aegean Active Volcanic arc in Greece. It is an active stratovolcano, mainly consisting of Quaternary volcanic rocks and alternations of lava flows, pyroclastic deposits and lava domes. The island covers an area of 47 Km² and forms a truncated cone with a base diameter of 8 km and a 4 km wide central caldera (Vougioukalakis, 1993).

The northern part of the caldera is named Lakki Plain and the southern Ramos Plain. The faults of the island have a prevailing radial pattern. There are 8 major fault zones, 157 minor faults and 105 structures (Caliro et al, 2004; Tibaldi et al., 2008; Nomikou, 2013). No historical magmatic activity is known on Nisyros and the most recent activity was of hydrothermal character (Marini et al. 1993). Fumarolic emissions are located in the southern Lakki Plain and on the southeastern flank of the Lofos dome both within the caldera. Hydrothermal eruptions formed a series of hydrothermal explosion craters whose ages decrease from southeast to northwest. The last phreatic eruptions took place in 1871–1873 and 1887 partially destroying the small Lofos dome. Two deep explorative geothermal wells drilled in the Lakki plain revealed the existence of two distinct hydrothermal aquifers. The shallowest at about 500 m depth has temperatures around 150 °C while the deeper one (> 1500 m) reaches temperatures up to 340 °C (Brombach et al., 2003). The fumarolic field is affected by fracturing along the main NW- and NE-trending active fault systems (Papadopoulos et al. 1998). All the fumaroles have temperatures close to the boiling point of water (96 – 100 $^{\circ}$ C). Their main chemical components are H₂O followed by CO₂ and H₂S, while N₂, H₂, CH₄, CO, Ar, and He are at relatively low concentrations (Chiodini *et al*, 1993, 2002; Brombach *et al*, 2001, 2003).

2.4. Nyiragongo and Nyamulagira

Nyiragongo (3469 m a.s.l.) and Nyamulagira (3058 m a.s.l.) volcanoes are located in the west rift of the East African Rift System, being a classic example of ongoing continental rifting where mafic, alkalic and ultrabasic magmatism is produced. They form part of Virunga Volcanic chain in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, north of the city of Goma.

The Nyiragongo has the summit crater of around 1.3 km in diameter and its lava has low SiO_2 content and, therefore, low viscosity. Its products are characterized by strongly alkaline and silica-undersaturated leucite, melilite and nepheline basanitic lavas (Platz *et al.*, 2004).

Nyiragongo lavas are also geochemically distinct from the other volcanoes of the Virunga volcanic province in the western rift of the East African Rift system (Chakrabarti et al. 2009). Chakrabarti et al. (2009) argued that the highly sodic and potassic compositions of the Nyiragongo lavas cannot be explained by subduction-introduced fluids, instead requiring partial melting of a source with pristine mineralogy, possibly in the deep lower mantle. They also observed that the trace-element composition of these lavas precludes any continental crustal contamination and suggests sublithospheric and subasthenospheric origin.

Even if Nyamuragira is located only 15 km to the north of Nyiragongo its composition is very different and less extreme. Nyamulagira is well known for the release of large quantities of sulfur dioxide (SO₂) during its frequent effusive eruptions (Tedesco *et al.*, 2007), for example Campion (2014) reported that the cumulative SO₂ production by the 17 eruptions that occurred since 1980 to 2014 amounts to around 30 Tg, for this reasons it is considered to be one of the most effusive volcanoes worldwide (Chakrabarti *et al.*, 2009).

2.5. Copahue

Copahue (2997 m a.s.l.) is an active stratovolcano with an elliptical base, on the border between Argentina and Chile in the Andes Mountains. It is located on the southwestern rim of a volcano-tectonic depression called Caldera de Caviahue (Agusto *et al.*, 2013) and has a unique concave-down shape, resembling a Hawaiian shield volcano (Varekamp *et al.*, 2006).

A small glacier, residual of glaciation in the volcano summit during the Pleistocene time, supplies meltwater to the hyper-acidic lake (pH<1) in the eastern summit crater that is surrounded by walls of phreatic debris. The active cone consists of surge and near-vent fallout deposits, whereas the broad base consists of debris avalanches, lahars, and lava flows (Varekamp *et al.*, 2001).

Two acid hot springs (60-80 °C) are located on the eastern flank (Mangue, 1978; Martini *et al.*, 1997; Varekamp *et al.*, 2001, 2004; Caselli *et al.*, 2005; Varekamp *et al.*, 2009; Agusto, 2011) and form the upper Agrio river (pH 2–3), that flows into a glacial lake, Lake Caviahue, (pH~3) (Tamburello *et al.*, 2015).

Copahue activity has been reported since the eighteenth century. Most eruptions were phreatic, with rare phreato-magmatic and sulfur pyroclastic emissions (Delpino and Bermúdez, 1993).

Hydrothermal manifestations in the northeast of the volcano (Mas *et al.*, 1996; Mas *et al.*, 2000; Agusto *et al.*, 2013) originate from meteoric water and volcanic acid gases that boil in hydrothermal reservoir with estimated temperatures of around 250-300 °C (Ouimette, 2000; Varekamp *et al.*, 2004; Agusto *et al.*, 2013; Tamburello *et al.*, 2015).

3. Materials and Methods

The determination of this element in most samples has presented some complication from analytical point of view, due to the low concentration of Tellurium in the environment.

The most commonly analytical techniques used to measure tellurium in natural samples presents in the literature are the following (Tab. 1): UV-visible spectrophotometry, instrumental neutron activation analysis (INAA), graphite furnace atomic absorption spectrometry (GFAAS), quartz tube atomic absorption spectrometry (QTAAS), voltammetry, hydride generation atomic fluorescence spectrometry (HG – AFS), inductively coupled plasma source atomic absorption spectrometry (ICP – AES), inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP – MS) and sector-field inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (SF-ICP-MS), Isotope Dilution Hydride Generation-Inductively Coupled Plasma-Mass Spectrometry (ID-HG-ICP-MS) (D'Ulivo,1997; El-Shahawi *et al.*, 2013; Filella, 2013; Belzilea & Chen, 2015).

Sample	Measurement	LOD (ng/g)	References
Soil and river sediment	Quadrupole ICP-MS	Not reported Te isotope	Ivanova et al., 2001
		unknown	
Rock	ID – HG – MC – ICP - MS	$< 1 (^{125}\text{Te and }^{126}\text{Te})$	Konig et al., 2012
Silicate rock and soil	ICP - MS	$0.5 (^{126}\text{Te}), 0.8 (^{128}\text{Te})$	Hu et al., 2006
Basalt rock	ID – HG – ICP - MS	$0.003 (^{125}$ Te and 126 Te)	Forrest et al., 2009
Stream sediment and	HG – ICP - MS	$1 (^{128}\text{Te and }^{130}\text{Te})$	Hall & Pelchat, 1997
rock			
Silicate materials	ID – ORC – ICP - QMS	$0.1 (^{125}\text{Te}), 0.07 (^{126}\text{Te})$	Makishima &
			Nakamura, 2009
Geological materials	GFAAS	0.2	Terashima, 2001
(rock, soil, deposit etc)			
Stream sediment, coal	Flame atomic absorption	0.9 ng/ml	Matusiewicz &
fly ash and garlic	spectrometry		Krawczyk, 2007
Soil	SF – ICP - MS	$0.17 (^{126}\text{Te})$	Yang et al., 2013
Plant	SF – ICP - MS	$0.02 (^{126}\text{Te})$	Yang et al., 2013

Table 1: Comparison of the analytical methods in different reports (modified by Yang et al., 2013)

For the present work each type of sample was collected and analyzed with specific techniques according to the treated matrix using the best suited analytical technique for the determination of tellurium.

3.1. Sampling methods

Trace elements are generally transported in volcanic plume as sub-micron sized particles. The plume was sampled at crater rims to avoid excessive dilution of the plume by using common filtration techniques for aerosols. Sampling was performed by pumping plume air (a mixture of gases and aerosol) in downwind direction at a rate of 4–18 L/min, for a period variable from one hour to few hours, through untreated 47-mm filter discs (Sartorius - polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) filter discs, pore size 0.45 µm placed inside a polycarbonate filter holder (NILU Filter Holder System, Fig. 6). This allowed solid and liquid particles to be trapped on the filter surface for successive analyses. Meteorological conditions at the summit craters of the volcanoes are extremely variable, mainly for wind speed and direction that affect the plume dilution by atmospheric air during the sampling. All the samples were collected during days that optimal weather conditions occurred, mainly in dry summer periods, following some criteria (Calabrese et al. 2011): no excessive humidity and no rain that could damage the filter, wind speed and direction suitable to perform the sampling in downwind sites with respect to the plume and sufficient sampling-time to accumulate enough particulate onto the filters. However, it was not always possible to find the appropriate weather conditions and many of the collected filters were discarded (e.g. too low amount of TSP or wet filters after the sampling due to high humidity).

Atmospheric SO_2 concentration was simultaneously determined by collecting the plume air through three base-treated filters in series previously impregnated with a solution 1 N NaOH (Aiuppa *et al.* 2002; Wittmer *et al.* 2014).

After the sampling, the filters were sealed in plastic bags and stored in the refrigerator until the analysis. The filters are weighed before and after the exposure to volcanic plume.

The atmospheric deposition was sampled with rain gauge collector. The collectors were installed on the down-wind at different distances from the main volcanic vents, from within the crater (Vulcano Island) or on the rim of the crater (Nyiragongo and Etna) up to distances of tens of km. To define the local atmospheric background, some collectors were installed in a site up-wind, in an area poorly affected by volcanic emissions.



Figure 6: Common filtration techniques for aerosols.

The samples were taken after a time period the allowed the collection of a volume of water sufficient for all analyses which varied, depending on the rainfall intensity of the area, from 1 to 15 days. The design and installation of the collectors conformed to EMEP (European Monitoring and Evaluation Programme) site requirements for precipitation gauges. The rain gauges used were bulk collectors which remained open during the whole sampling period, thus receiving both wet and dry deposition (Figs. 7-8). They were composed of a funnel and a polypropylene (PP) bottle. The funnel (Büchner type, Ø 240 mm) can be separated in two pieces for easy and total cleaning. A sheet of filter paper (DP-400–240 – basis weight: 80 ± 3 g m⁻²; thickness: 0.180–0.190 mm; retention of particles: 35–40 lm) was put inside the funnel, and a HDPE disc was inserted between the filter paper and the perforated Büchner plate to avoid clogging of the holes. The filter-system (perforated plate, HDPE disc and filter paper) excluded a prolonged interaction between sampled rainwater and coarse particulate, and minimized evaporation. All the equipments were washed with a 2% nitric acid (Merck Suprapur) solution, and then rinsed several times with de-ionized (MilliQ) water, dried under

hood, packed in double clean plastic bags, and zipped until exposure in the field. Disposable plastic gloves were used whenever working with samples and sampling equipment. At the end of the sampling period, the sampling bottle was capped and transported in the laboratory for analysis.



Figure 7: Scheme of rain gauges for bulk deposition sampling; in the inset shows the filter-system.



Figure 8: Collectors installed for the bulk deposition sampling.

The Volcanic ash samples were taken immediately after the eruptive activity. It was collected a sample for each paroxysmal event, except for the ashes erupted from San Miguel (El Salvador), in this case two samples were taken, on the crater rim and in the valley.

The samples, waiting to be analysed, were kept in tightly sealed plastic bags so as to avoid external contamination. Some of the samples were sieved through standard sieves to measure the distribution of the grain size, while leaching experiments were performed later on each grain size class.

Leaves of vegetation and soils were also collected in the volcanic areas, the sampling occurred at different distances from the active volcanic vents and some samples were collected outside the volcanic area as local background. The soils, meaning the first centimeter of topsoil, were collected at Nysiros near the plants (Fig. 9).

At each volcanic system at least one plant species was chosen and collected on the widest possible area around the volcano. At the end many different plant species were sampled and only rarely one species was sampled in more than one volcanic system. When possible, one endemic species and one general species were chosen. At each sampling site, a composite sample was obtained from plants growing in an area of about 25 to 100 m² depending on the species. For trees branches from different sides of the tree and from at least three plants were collected. The branches were air-dried; the leaves or needles were subsequently hand-picked and further dried in an oven at 40 °C for about two days. The pine needles were separated into years of growth. For small plant species leaves were hand-picked directly in the field and subsequently oven-dried at 40 °C in the laboratory.

Also in this case the sampling and storage of the samples were carried out avoiding contaminations.

A separate description is made for the use of moss bags as bioindicators through their accumulation of trace elements. The mosses used were a mixture of Sphagnum species (*Sphagnum fuscum* and *Sphagnum tenellum*), picked in a rural forest close to Gothenburg (Sweden).



Figure 9: Sampling of soil and plants

The moss bags, covered and uncovered and positioned on a stake about a meter from the ground, were left in different parts of Nisyros (Greece) for 10 days and Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo) for 3 or 35 days (Figs. 10-11).

Before exposure the mosses have undergone a pre-treatment: they were rinsed several times with deionized water and dried at room temperature in a fume hood. Finally 2g of prepared moss was packed in the containers were made from a nylon net (2 mm mesh size).



Figure 10: The moss bags used as bioindicator



Figure 11: The figure shows how the convered and uncovered moss-bags have been positioned.

3.2. Methods of Analysis

3.2.1. Analyses of Volcanic Aerosol

The particles trapped on filters, inside a Teflon vessel, were totally dissolved in a mixture of strong acids (HNO₃, HF, HClO₄ – 3:1:1) by a microwave oven. Subsamples of the filters collected with the high volume air sampler were leached with 50ml of milliQ water (>18.2MΩ) for 4 h, constantly stirring to dissolve all the soluble part of the collected particulate. The mineralized solutions and the leachates were analysed for both major elements with ICP-OES (Jobin Yvon Ultima2) and trace elements, including Tellurium, with ICP-MS by using an Agilent 7500ce instrument. The absolute concentrations were corrected for filters blanks and normalized to the sampled volume (μ g/m³).

3.2.2. Analyses of Atmospheric bulk deposition

The collected water samples were split into sub-samples. One unfiltered aliquot was immediately taken for the determination of pH and conductivity (ISO 10523; ISO 7888), and a sub-sample was stored for silica determination. Subsequently, three aliquots were filtered using cellulose acetate filter with 0.45 μ m pore size (Sartorius, Minisart®), to remove any solid material and to stabilise the solution for the subsequent analysis. One filtered aliquot for major anions (F⁻, SO₄²⁻, Cl⁻, NO₃⁻) were stored, and the sub-samples to be used for the determination of major cations (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, K⁺, Na⁺) and trace elements were acidified by the addition of 100 μ l of HNO₃ (Ultrapure, MERK) to each 50 ml of sample. The samples were stored dark and refrigerated (4°C) until analysis.

3.2.3. Analyses of ash leachates

The soluble fraction in the ash is calculated in the bulk e/o in the different grain sizes. During the leaching procedures, aliquots of 1 g of ash were eluted in 25 ml of deionised water for 2 hours with constant agitation, following the method proposed by Witham *et al.* (2005). The supernatant was subsequently centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 15 min, and filtered through 0.45 μ m filters (Sartorius, Minisart®). A part of solvent (15 ml), acidified with 100 μ l HNO₃, Ultrapure MERK, was used to determine the concentrations of trace metals (including tellurium), obtained by ICP- MS, an other aliquot was analysed by ion chromatography (IC) for major Cations and Anions. The samples were stored dark and refrigerated (4°C) until analysis.

3.2.4. Analyses of Soil Samples

All soil samples were dried at a temperature of about 40 °C. An aliquots of samples (500 mg) were used to determinate the soluble fraction with deionised water (50 ml), see ashes above for the procedure and analyses, and the pH was determined. Other aliquots were powdered in an agate mortar, a part the powder (0.25g), using HNO₃ +

HCl (2:1), closed microwave digestion, were extracted in order to determine the neartotal composition. All the solutions were analysed, after appropriate diluition, by inductively plasma spectrometry (ICP-MS).

3.2.5. Analyses of Vegetation Samples

The leaves samples, including the mosses tissues, were dried and were completely powdered by planetary ball mills, agate jars and disposable gloves were used to avoid metal contamination. An aliquot of the powder was dried at 40 °C for 24 h, and about 250 mg of each homogenized sample were mineralized for 60 min by Closed Vessel Acid Digestion in a microwave oven (CEM MARS Xpress) using Teflon vessels with 3 mL concentrated HNO₃ (ultrapure grade 65%), 2 mL H₂O₂ (ultrapure 39%) and 5 mL milliQ-water. Control samples were added to each batch of samples as follows: at least four certificate reference materials (CRM), three replicates of one random sample and one method blank (acid solution without any powder). Digestates were further diluted with milliQwater up to a total volume of 50 mL and analyzed by ICP-MS (Agilent 7500-ce) and ICP-OES (Jobin Yvon Ultima2). Method blank values were subtracted from the raw concentrations of all samples.

3.3. Tellurium determination by ICP - MS

All the samples, after the leaching to evaluate the soluble fraction and/or the mineralization for tellurium bulk composition, were analysed by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS).

The analysis of this element showed different problems caused by its low concentrations.

The first problem is that the Tellurium has a high first ionization potential (9.009 eV), so it has a lower sensitivity compared to sensitivities of other elements having low first ionization energy (Fig. 12).



Figure 12: The diagram shows the First ionization energy respect the Atomic Number of the elements.

The second problem is the Isotopes Interference that did not permit the use of Tellurium isotopes with higher abundance for the analysis. Tellurium has eight stable isotopes, namely: 120 Te (0.09 %), 122 Te (2.55 %), 123 Te (0.89 %), 124 Te (4.74 %), 125 Te (7.07 %), 126 Te (18.84 %), 128 Te (31.74 %), and 130 Te (34.08 %).

The table 2, that reported the data of Yang *et al.*, 2013, highlights that the two Tellurium isotopes with the highest abundance (> 31 %), ¹²⁸Te and ¹³⁰Te, have serious isobaric interferences from ¹²⁸Xe (1.92 %), ¹³⁰Xe (4.08 %) and ¹³⁰Ba (0.106 %). It has been reported that background signal intensities at m/z 128 and 130 caused by the impurities of ¹²⁸Xe and ¹³⁰Xe in ultra-pure argon gas are significantly high, seriously deteriorating the determination of nanogram levels of Tellurium using ICP-MS (Yang *et al.*, 2013).

Although the extent of interferences decreased with the increase of Tellurium concentration, the Xe interferences can still be observed even at a concentration of 1 μ g/l. Thus, ¹²⁸Te and ¹³⁰Te were excluded for further investigation. The use of ¹²⁰Te, ¹²²Te, ¹²³Te and ¹²⁴Te is hampered by their low abundance (0.09 % - 4.74 %) and isobaric interferences from Sn, Sb and Xe. These six Tellurium isotopes (¹²⁰Te, ¹²²Te, ¹²³Te, ¹²⁴Te, ¹²⁸Te and ¹³⁰Te) are thus unsuitable for trace level Tellurium analysis by ICP-MS. The two remaining isotopes, ¹²⁵Te and ¹²⁶Te have a sufficiently high abundance (7.07 % and 18.84 %, respectively). In addition, ¹²⁵Te has no isobaric interference, and the isobaric interference from ¹²⁶Xe is not significant for ¹²⁶Te due to the low abundance of ¹²⁶Xe (0.09 %).

Isotopes	Abundance (%)	Interference	Abundance (%)
¹²⁰ Te	0.09	¹²⁰ Sn	32.58
¹²² Te	2.55	¹²² Sn	4.63
¹²³ Te	0.89	¹²³ Sb	42.79
¹²⁴ Te	4.74	¹²⁴ Sn, ¹²⁴ Xe	5.79, 0.09
¹²⁵ Te	7.07		
¹²⁶ Te	18.84	¹²⁶ Xe	0.09
¹²⁸ Te	31.74	¹²⁸ Xe	1.92
¹³⁰ Te	34.08	¹³⁰ Xe, ¹³⁰ Ba	4.08, 0.106

Table 2: Isobaric interferences of Tellurium isotopes (modified by Yang *et al.*, 2013)

The third problem is the Polyatomic Interference: the major polyatomic interferences are from the Ar-associated interferences, such as ${}^{87}\text{Sr}{}^{38}\text{Ar}^+$, ${}^{87}\text{Rb}{}^{38}\text{Ar}^+$, ${}^{89}\text{Y}{}^{36}\text{Ar}^+$, and ${}^{85}\text{Rb}{}^{40}\text{Ar}^+$ for ${}^{125}\text{Te}$ analysis, and ${}^{88}\text{Sr}{}^{38}\text{Ar}^+$, ${}^{86}\text{Sr}{}^{40}\text{Ar}^+$, ${}^{90}\text{Zr}{}^{36}\text{Ar}^+$, and ${}^{86}\text{Kr}{}^{40}\text{Ar}^+$ for ${}^{126}\text{Te}$ analysis. The m/z of these Ar-associated polyatomic interferences is slightly smaller than the m/z of ${}^{125}\text{Te}$ and ${}^{126}\text{Te}$. The table 3 (Yang *et al.*, 2013) reported the major polyatomic interferences on ${}^{125}\text{Te}$ (*m*/*z* 124.90444) and ${}^{126}\text{Te}$ (*m*/*z* 125.90331) analyses.

Potential interferences ¹²⁵ Te	for	Mass	Abundance of former isotope	Abundance of latter isotope	Resolution m / Δ m
⁸⁷ Sr ³⁸ Ar		124.87162	7.0015	0.0632	3806
⁸⁷ Rb ³⁸ Ar		124.87191	27.8346	0.0632	3840
⁸⁹ Y ³⁶ Ar		124.87341	100.0000	0.3365	4025
⁸⁵ Rb ⁴⁰ Ar		124.87418	72.1654	99.6003	4128
¹⁰⁹ Ag ¹⁶ O		124.89966	48.1608	99.7628	26131
¹⁰⁷ Ag ¹⁸ O		124.90426	51.8392	0.2000	693914
Potential interferences ¹²⁶ Te	for				
⁸⁸ Sr ³⁸ Ar		125.86835	82.5845	0.0632	3601
86 Sr ⁴⁰ Ar		125.86165	9.8566	99.6003	3022
⁹⁰ Zr ³⁶ Ar		125.87226	51.4520	0.3365	4055
⁸⁶ Kr ⁴⁰ Ar		125.87299	17.29835	99.6003	4152
¹⁰⁹ Ag ¹⁷ O		125.90388	48.1608	0.0372	220883

 Table 3: Polyatomic interferences of Tellurium 125 and 126 (modified by Yang et al., 2013)

All the samples collected for this thesis were analysed for both ¹²⁵Te and ¹²⁶Te isotopes which, although less abundant, should be subject to less isobaric and polyatomic interferences. From various tests on different matrices a good correlation between the two isotopes (Fig. 13) supporting the fact that no significant isobaric and polyatomic interference affects the analyses. Due to the fact that ¹²⁵Te tends to be slightly overestimated, especially at low concentrations, the results of the most abundant ¹²⁶Te have been chosen (Fig. 13). The limit of quantification for undiluted low salinity water samples has been 10 ng/l.



Figura 13: Correlation between ¹²⁵Te and ¹²⁶Te in samples of soil, plant, ash and rainwater.

The validation of measurements is usually done checking the recovery of the element analysing certified reference materials (CRM). Unfortunately we did not have any CRM for which tellurium concentrations were certified. For the analyses of plants and soils, 6 CRM (3 for soils and 3 for plants) were used finding good agreements (within $\pm 15\%$) for almost all certified elements. These results indicate a good quality of the whole sample preparation procedure at least for the certified elements. Three of the CRM were determined also for Te in previous studies and were found on GEOREM database (http://georem.mpch-mainz.gwdg.de/). The results of the present analyses of the CRM gave low concentration values for Tellurium (0.0075 to 0.021 µg/g). For two of them (GBW7603 and 7604) the results are very different (20-46%) from that found on GEOREM. These data are taken from a paper written in Chinese (Li Yan-xiang *et al.*,
2010) so it was impossible to compare the analytical methods. For one other (GBW7605) the values obtained in the present study range from 0.0088 to 0.0115 μ g/g (4 replies) which is 68-88% of the value reported by Rodushkin *et al.* (2008). The small negative difference could be due to the fact that Rodushkin *et al.* (2008) used a mixture of acids with HF for the mineralization of their samples and CRMs which is more effective in the dissolution of some mineral phase with respect to the mixture used in this study and analysis were performed with ICP-SFMS that is more sensitive with respect to ICP-QMS.

4. **Results**

4.1. Volcanic Aerosol

Aerosol is defined as a suspension of fine solid or liquid particles in a gas (Mather *et al.*, 2003).

The volatile elements that are released by volcanic degassing, during and between eruptions, take part in the major geochemical cycles involving the lithosphere, hydrosphere, atmosphere and biosphere (Holland, 1984; Arthur, 2000) and contribute to atmospheric chemistry by increasing the amount of reactive and greenhouse gases and aerosols.

The volcanic degassing occurs through a plume, being a mixture of particles and gas emitted by volcanoes directly by the magma, or by fumaroles that are the main expression of the presence of hydrothermal systems.

The most abundant volcanic gases are water vapor followed by carbon dioxide, sulfur dioxide, hydrogen sulfide, hydrogen chloride and hydrogen but also in many trace elements including alkali, alkali-earth, transition and heavy metals (Zoller et al., 1974). Magma evolution then partitions volatiles between the crust and the atmosphere/hydrosphere via degassing and eruption and the trace elements are degassed as halides, sulphates, sulphides and/or metals, and are usually in the aerosol phase of the airborne plume (Gemmell, 1987; Symonds et al., 1987; LeGuern, 1988; Hinkley, 1991; Symonds et al., 1994; Moune et al., 2010).

Volcanic degassing depends on the degree to which gas-melt separation proceeds and the gas leaves the magma, indeed it begins with the expulsion or exsolution of volatiles from the melt and formation of gas bubbles. The expansion of bubbles of gas accompanying decompression of magmas conditions the over-pressuring of magmatic systems, in their dynamics and in eruption style. The state of the system conditions the partitioning of volatiles into the vapor phase (Oppenheimer, 2003):

- if the degassing is closed the exsolved vapor, does not leave the melt;

- if the degassing is open the separated gas phase produced at each stage in the magma body, is expelled into country rock (possibly through a hydrothermal system) or directly, via the magmatic plumbing system, to the atmosphere. Volcanic emissions are considered one of the major natural sources of several trace elements, including Tellurium, into the atmosphere. Nevertheless, estimates of global volcanic fluxes, both for major and trace elements vary widely. These uncertainties depend on the large variability in the emission of the different volcanoes, and on their changing stage of activity (eruptive or non-eruptive periods). Mather *et al.*, (2003) confirmed the difficulty to provide accurate estimates of the global volcanogenic budget of trace elements injected into the atmosphere.

4.1.1. Volcanic Aerosol Results

In this study 70 samples of volcanic plume and fumaroles were collected by using filtration techniques. They were sampled at the summit vents of 11 differents volcanoes: Etna and Vulcano (Italy); Turrialba (Costarica); Myake-jima, Asama and Aso (Japan); Mutnovsky and Gorely (Kamchatka, Russian Federation); Copahue (Argentina); Nyamuragira and Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo). Thus the existing worldwide database regarding the concentration of Tellurium in volcanic plume has increased significantly. The concentrations of Tellurium detected vary from <0.003 to 0.15 µg/m³ (Fig. 14). The values of concentrations present a wide-ranging variability due to many factors: the differents distances of the sampling points from the active vents; the variable meteorological conditions, such as the direction and intensity of the wind and the relative humidity, which both influence the degree of dilution of the plume; the different stage of volcanic activity, which may condition the output rates of trace species, and the relative contribution from erosive and gas-to-particle conversion processes; heterogeneity between the active vents in different volcanoes but also in the same volcano. For these reasons the data are not directly comparable, for example the highest concentrations of Tellurium were found at Mount Etna, an open conduit volcano, on the rim of the Bocca Nuova Crater (BNC), 0.15 μ g/m³, and at Mutnovsky, 0.14 μ g/m³, where the sampling occurred within a fumarolic field with temperatures around 700°C. Instead the value reported at Gorely is low because the sample was collected about a 1 km far from the rim. Nevertheless all the obtained values are one/two order of magnitude greater than the atmospheric background ($<0.001 \ \mu g/m^3$) indicated from Belzilea & Chen (2015).



Figure 14: The diagram reports the data obtained for this study regarding the concentrations of Tellurium $(\mu g/m^3)$ measured during the emission of different volcanoes.

To better understand the plume composition, Tellurium concentrations of Etna, Nyiragongo and Vulcano are here presented among with all the major and trace elements investigated (Figs. 15, 16 and 17). In the plume of Nyiragongo and Nyamulagira (Fig. 16) the most abundant metals are Na, Si and K, the same is for the Etna (Fig. 15) with the addition of Mg, Ca, Al, Fe and Ti. These elements constituite about 98% of the total particulate abundance and they are the main constituents of basaltic rocks, so reflecting the magma composition. Their abundances on filters indicate the presence of small ash fragments in the plume, which derive from rock fragments eroded from the vent walls, and juvenile fragments of the magma, including glass and silicate minerals (Gauthier *and* Le Cloarec, 1998; Aiuppa *et al.*, 2003a; Mather *et al.*, 2003). Being Vulcano island a high-temperature hydrothermal system volcano, without an open conduit, these elements, representative of the silicatic particles contribution, show lower relative concentrations with respect to the other three open conduit volcanoes (Fig. 17).

Minor and trace elements account for about 2% of the total particles budget. The relative abundances of Tellurium is around 0.01% of the total.

Basing on the vapor-phase transport of the elements in the plume system, they can be divided into volatile (e.g. Te but also Se, Cd, Tl, Sb, As, Cu) and non-volatile (e.g. U, Th, Cs, La, Rb, Ba) elements. The non-volatile are lithophile elements with a refractory

behaviour because of their strong affinity for the silicate melt, even at low-pressure and high-temperature. In contrast, volatile elements are thought to be extensively partitioned into the gas phase during high-temperature magmatic degassing, likely because of their strong affinity with the degassed S and halogens (Aiuppa *et al.*, 2003a). Therefore Tellurium, being a volatile element, tends to be concentrated and enriched into the aerosol phase (respect to the parental magma) and in all three volcanoes it presents a lower variability (around one order of magnitude) with respect to the other elements.



Figure 15: Diagram shows the volcanic aerosol concentrations for Etna volcano. Tellurium is indicated with the rectangle. In the legend BNC is Bocca Nuova Crater, NEC is North East Crater, TDF is Torre del Filosofo (\approx 1,25 km from the craters), BR is Bosco Ragabo(\approx 8.7 km from the craters), PDN is Pizzi de Neri(\approx 2.5 km from the craters), CT is Catania city, VOR is Voragine Crater. Br, PDN and CT were all below the quantification limit for Te (<0.003 µg/m³).



Figura 16: Diagram shows the aerosols concentrations in Nyiragongo and Nyamulagira plume, collected during the field trips on the 2011 and 2014. Nyiragongo III ter indicates a particular sample collected very close to the lava lake surface, less than 0.1 km.



Figura 17: Diagram shows the volcanic emissions concentrations within the fumarolic field and somewhat further away on the rim of la Fossa crater at Vulcano Island.

In the binary plot of figure 18, Tellurium is correlated with other volatile elements (Tl, Pb, Rb, Cu). Together with the new results, data from previous studies, reported in the table 4, are plotted. Taking Etna as a case study, the concentrations of tellurium measured in the proximity of the craters, Bocca Nuova Crater (BNC) and North East Crater (NEC), are higher than samples taken at a greater distance from the craters, Torre del Filosofo (TDF), but although varying in absolute values, they show generally good linear correlations.

Table 4: Concentrations of Tellurium indicated in previous studies.					
Site	Concentration of Tellurium (µg/m ³)	References			
Atmospheric background	< 0.001	Belzilea & Chen, 2015			
Etna (Italy)	0.001 - 0.089	Aiuppa et al., 2003			
Kilauea (USA)	0.001 - 0.134	Mather et al., 2012			
Masaya (Nicaragua)	0.11 - 0.19	Moune et al., 2010			
Stromboli (Italy)	0.005 - 0.02	Allard et al., 2000			



Figure 18: Linear Correlation of concentrations of Tellurium with other elements in volcanic aerosol in different volcanos. Together with the results of this study, data from literature are plotted (see legend).

4.2. Atmospheric deposition

4.2.1. Atmospheric Deposition - Rain

The atmosphere is a thin layer of gases surrounding our planet that protects and assures the life on Earth. Gases and particles in the atmosphere fall on the surface via Atmospheric Deposition that consists in: Wet Deposition, the flux of dissolved components from the atmosphere (rain, snow, hail, fog); Dry Deposition, the flux of gases and particles falling down from the atmosphere in the absence of precipitation, it also includes the fallout of particles and mineral dusts (Al, Si, Ti), sea salts (Na, Cl), organic particles (pollen and spores), soot including vegetation fires (C, As, Cr, Cu, Pb, V, Zn), industrial smog (ammonium sulphate and nitrate). Through the Dry deposition the atmospheric gases interact with any kind of surface (rocks, soil, leafs, water bodies, etc). The sum of wet and dry deposition is called Bulk Deposition, which is the total flux of dissolved components from the atmosphere in open field with precipitations, combined with dry removal of particle and gas to the ground.

The atmosphere is an oxidizing environment and many important reactions occur in water droplets of cloud and rain; enormous quantities of airborne compounds, such as organic substances, Fe(II), SO_2 , and nitrogen oxides, are oxidized by oxidants, such as oxygen, OH- radicals, H_2O_2 , and Fe (III) dissolved in water droplets. Moreover, the atmosphere is an important conveyer belt for many pollutants, sensitive to natural and/or anthropogenic disturbances (e.g. big volcanic eruptions, industrial emissions, etc.) because it represents a smaller reservoir with respect to lithosphere and hydrosphere.

The atmospheric water plays a very important role in the water cycle considering that the average residence time of water vapour in the atmosphere is about 11 days (Berner *and* Berner, 1996). This rapid turnover is very important for the removal of atmospheric pollutants that are washed out by rain.

The composition of rain reflects the acid-base titration that occurs in the atmosphere; the water phase promotes oxidation reactions, such as the oxidation of SO_2 to H_2SO_4 .

Aerosol particles, which generally consist of $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ and NH_4NO_3 , can form the nuclei for the condensation of liquid water; particle diameters range from 0.01 µm up to a few hundred micrometers. Water droplets (10 - 50 µm in diameter) condense on

aerosols particles and can dissolve gases such as CO_2 , SO_2 , and HCl, which contribute to the acidity of the droplet, and NH₃ that neutralizes mineral acids and buffers the solution phase. When the droplets become big enough, about 1 mm, they can fall as raindrops. In conclusion, it is possible to distinguish two different mechanisms of chemical enrichment of wet deposition from the atmosphere: rainout wich refers to incloud scavenging and washout to below-cloud scavenging by falling rain or snow.

Atmospheric deposition processes (wet and dry) provide the pathways through which volcanic volatiles emitted into the atmosphere return to the ground. In fact, acid gases and trace metals, once redeposited on the ground, can be fixed in the soil or taken up by plants, and can have both harmful and beneficial effects (Baxter *et al.*, 1982; Delmelle *et al.*, 2002). The detrimental effects are generally either mediated through acidification of soils (Parnell, 1986; Parnell *and* Burke, 1990; Delmelle *et al.*, 2002; Floor *et al.*, 2008) or by direct fumigation of vegetation (Johnson *and* Parnell, 1986; Stoiber *et al.*, 1987; Notcutt & Davies, 1989; Varrica *et al.*, 2000; Delmelle *et al.*, 2002; Bellomo *et al.*, 2007; Watt *et al.*, 2007; Martin *et al.*, 2009). Nevertheless volcanic activity has been shown to have also a fertilizing effect on the environment (Frogner *et al.*, 2001, 2006). Finally, volcanogenic output may enter into the hydrological cycle and contaminate aquifers (Aiuppa *et al.*, 2000, 2003b; Brusca *et al.*, 2001; Flaathen *et al.*, 2007).

4.2.1.2 Atmospheric Deposition – Rain Results

This study reports the first data regarding the tellurium concentrations in rainwater in volcanic areas. The samples of rain were collected at three different volcanoes: Vulcano Island (Italy), Mount Etna (Italy) and Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo) (Tab. 5). In total the samples of rain collected and analysed have been approximately 100.

At Vulcano Island the rain was collected between April and June 2012 at three different points: within the crater in the fumarolic field and on the rim of "la Fossa" and at the volcanological observatory "Marcello Carapezza" of the INGV, more distant from volcanic emissions and close to the sea (Fig. 19).

Site	ID	Volcano	Zone	Coordinates	UTM	Altitude m (a.s.l)	Distance from Craters Km	Peri od	Number of samples	Expos.
Torre del Filosofo	TDF	Mount Etna (Italy)	33 S	4176659	500009	2905	1,25	2006 2007	7	down- wind
Citelli	CIT	Mount Etna (Italy)	33 S	4180074	504769	1750	5,54	2006 2007	4	down- wind
Casa del Vescovo	CDV	Mount Etna (Italy)	33 S	4172356	502202	1705	6,49	2006 2007	1	down- wind
Intraleo	INT	Mount Etna (Italy)	33 S	4175104	492873	1510	7,30	2006 2007	3	up- wind
Zafferana	ZAF	Mount Etna (Italy)	33 S	4173454	508202	862	9,86	2006 2007	1	down- wind
Crater of ''La Fossa''	Crater	Vulcano Island (Italy)	33 S	4250840	496630	273	0,10	2012	3	down- wind
Rim of ''La Fossa''	Rim	Vulcano Island (Italy)	33 S	4250707	496872	319	0,50	2012	3	down- wind
"Marcello Carapezza " Center	INGV	Vulcano Island (Italy)	33 S	4252094	495816	18	3,00	2012	3	up- wind
Rim west direction	Rim	Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo)	35 M	749706	9831499	3425	0,30	2011 2014	8	down- wind
Rim est direction	Rim base	Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo)	35 M	750384	9830975	3416	0,50	2014	7	up- wind
Rusayo	Rusayo	Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo)	35 M	741189	9824066	1667	10,00	2014	14	down- wind
Bulengo	Bulengo	Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo)	35 M	735761	9821214	1569	16,00	2014	9	down- wind
Kingi	Kingi	Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo)	35 M	728788	9835096	1821	23,00	2014	12	down- wind
Kibumba	Kibumba	Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo)	35 M	759353	9833619	2016	9,50	2014	24	up- wind
Goma	Goma	Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo)	35 M	747781	9813923	1533	17,40	2014	4	up- wind

Table 5	5: Information	about the	rainwater	sampling sites
I HOIC C	. intornation	about the	rainmater	Sumpring Sites

Due to field logistic problems, only one sample of rain was taken at the summit crater of Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo) in December 2011. The second field trip, held from October to December 2014, a network of 7 pluviometers were installed on the crater rim and on the lower flank of the volcano at different distances from the crater.

The sampling sites at the rim were two: one positioned at the base camp, less affected by the plume, and one on the rim in the west direction with respect to the base camp The other sites were close to the villages positioned down-wind, Rusayo, Bulengo and Kingi, marked by red triangles in figure 20 and the villages positioned up-wind, Kibumba, and the city of Goma (blue triangles in the figure) in which therefore the interaction with volcanic gases should be minimal or very rare.



Figure 19: Map of Vulcano Island (Italy). The triangules indicate the points where the collectors were positioned: within the crater and on the rim of "la Fossa" (down - wind) and at the volcanological observatory "Marcello Carapezza" of the INGV (up-wind).



Figure 20: Map of Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo). The red Triangules indicate the sampling point in down – wind, while the blue triangules report the position of the collector in up – wind with respect to the summit craters.

Atmospheric deposition was monitored at Mt. Etna for about 2 years, in 2006 and 2007. The sampling sites of Mt. Etna were collected at five rain gauges at various altitudes around the summit: Torre del Filosofo (TDF), Citelli (CIT), Casa del Vescovo (CDV), and Zafferana (ZAF) are on the eastern flank, down-wind with respect to the summit craters, in the prevailing plume direction; Intraleo (INT), the up-wind site, defined the local atmospheric background, being on the western flank, in a rural area insignificantly affected by volcanic or anthropogenic emissions. A small selection of these samples was chosen to determine tellurium concentrations (Fig. 21).



Figure 21: Map is subdivided in sectors basing on the axis of plume-dispersion (corresponding to the main direction of the blowing winds). Sectors are subdivided in down-wind and up-wind with respect to the summit craters. The upper-right inset shows the geographical position of Mt. Etna; the upper-left inset shows the wind rose referring to the altitude of the summit for the period 2006–2007 (data from Birgi station). Map from Calabrese *et al.*, 2011.

The diagram 22 shows the chemical compositions of the rain samples collected in the examined volcanoes. A great variation in the concentrations of each chemical element is apparent, which in many cases exceeds 3 orders of magnitude. Generally, samples collected from Etna are showing the most elevated concentrations for the majority of the elements. However, it should be also taken into consideration that both Etna and Nyiragongo are among the greatest open conduit volcanic emitters worldwide whereas Vulcano is a closed conduit volcano in which the emissions come from the fumarolic activity of the summit crateric area.



Figure 22: Diagram with the concentrations of the rain components collected at Mount Etna (Italy), Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo) and Island of Vulcano (Italy). Tellurium is evidenced by a red circle.

The Na- Cl graph (Fig. 23) shows a good correlation between the two parameters. The Sodium originates either from the marine spray or from the mineralogical phase of silicates (plagioclases), whereas the chloride is attributed to two sorces, either the marine spray or the volcanic plume (chloride, as HCl, is among the volatiles found in greatest quantities in volcanic emissions). Samples taken from background sites show a Na-Cl ratio very close to that of seawater indicating a main contribution from marine spray (Fig. 23). Such contribution is evident also at Nyiragongo despite its great distance from the sea evidencing how sea spray can travel very long distances. On the contrary the samples collected close to the volcanic vents and in the downwind direction display a chloride excess deriving from the HCl of the volcanic emissions (Fig. 24a) Such pattern is typical of all elements or compounds of prevailingly volcanic origin as for example H^+ (Fig. 24b), SO₄ (Fig. 24c) or F (not shown). On the contrary, compound like NO₃ of prevailing anthropogenic origin do not show any decreasing pattern with the distance from the vents (Fig. 24d).



Figura 23: Correlation of Sodium and Chloride in the samples of rainwater, the line represents the sea water Na-Cl ratio.



Figure 24: a) The three diagrams, one for each volcano, Etna (red symbols), Nyiragongo (yellow symbols) and Vulcano (blue symbol), show that the highest concentrations of Chlorine are close to the volcanic vents (the triangle); b) The Diagrams pH-distance describe an increase of pH with increasing distance from the vents; c) The sulphates tend to increase close the volcanoes; d) Diagrams of the nitrates concentrations vs. the distance from the craters show no increasing nor decreasing trend.

The pH of the rain in the active volcanic areas is mainly controlled by the contribution of the strong acids emitted by the summit craters, both in passive degassing emissions and in paroxysmal phases (Etna and Nyiragongo), or from the persistent fumarolic activity (Vulcano). On the other hand, the neutralization process is controlled by heterogenic reactions on solid phases mainly silicates deriving from pyroclastic material. This material may interact with meteoric water either directly during paroxysmal phases (Etna and Nyiragongo) or to the uplift of the material deposited in the flanks of the volcanoes by strong winds. The influence of the acidic contribution can be well noticed in all the samples collected close to the crateric area (Etna, Nyiragongo and Vulcano) (Figs. 24b - 25) that show the lowest pH values. Whereas the buffer and dilution effects on pH are noticed in the samples that were collected far from the summit craters. The pluviometers on the flanks of Nyiragongo are more affected from the neutralization effect, showing values of pH between 6 and 7.



Figure 25: The diagram reports the correlations of pH vs. $Cl+SO_4^{2^2}$.

The concentrations of Tellurium in the three sampling points show a great variability ranging from < 0.01 to 3.20 µg/l (Figs. 26a-b). Belzilea & Chen (2015) in a previous study reported a range of 0.002-0.025 µg/l for rainwater background. In general, the results show clearly higher Tellurium contents close to the craters with values up to 3.20

 μ g/l with respect to far away background values from below 0.01 μ g/l to 0.04 μ g/l (Fig. 26b), suggesting a mainly volcanogenic origin.



Figure 26: The concentrations of Tellurium in the samples of rainwater collected at Nyiragongo, Etna and Vulcano (a) that show a variability due to the distance of the pluviometers respect to the craters (b).

The contribution of the volcanic emissions on rainwater can be described by the following three graphs (Fig. 27). The degassing process of the plumes of Etna and Nyiragongo and of the fumaroles of Vulcano emits in the atmosphere great quantities of Sulfur, Chlorine and Fluorine in the form of acidic gases. The most obvious effect is noticed when the pH and the three major constituents are compared. The lowest values of the pH correspond to the highest concentrations noticed for the Chlorine, Fluorine Deposition and Sulfate in the rain samples (inverse correlation).

Tellurium has a positive correlation with the three main constituents of the acidic volcanic plume (Fig. 27), which is particularly evident in the pluviometers close to the emission points (red, blue and yellow triangles). However, at cases (see Tellurium and Chlorine), the ratio can vary in the different examined volcanic systems (eg. an increase



of Chlorine in Vulcano is noticed, where there is a remarkable component of marine aerosol).

Figura 27: The diagrams in the right show the decrease of pH in the rain with the increase of three main acidic constituents in the volcanic plume (Chlorine, Fluorine and sulphate), the Tellurium reports a positive correlation with these components (diagrams in the left.) further underscoring its mainly volcanogenic origin.

The concentrations of Te, among with other volatile elements (e.g. As, Bi, Cs, Cu, Cd, Tl, Pb) are inversely correlated with pH values. This testifies for a common origin from

 10^{1} Crater (DW) - Etna Distal sites (DW) - Etna 10^{0} INT (UW) - Etna Te (μg/l) Crater (DW) - Congo Δ Distal sites (DW) - Congo 0 Kibumba (UW) - Congo Crater (DW) - Vulcano 10⁻² INGV (UW) - Vulcano 10^{-3} 10^{0} 10^{2} 10-2 10-1 10^{1} 10^{3} As (µg/l) 10^{1} 10^1 10^{0} 10^{0} Te (μg/l) Te ($\mu g/I$) 10. 10^{-2} 10⁻² 10-3 10^{-3} 10-2 10-1 10^{0} 10^{-1} 10^{0} 10^1 10^{2} 10^3 10^{-3} 10^{1} 10^{-2} Rb (µg/l) Cs (µg/l) 10^{1} 10^{1} 10^{0} 10^{0} 0 Te (μg/l) .01 Te (μg/l) 10⁻² 10⁻² 10-3 10-3 10^{1} 10^{3} 10-1 10^{0} 10^{2} 10^{4} 10-2 10-1 10^{0} 10^{1} 10^{2} Cu (µg/l) Tl (µg/l) 10^{1} 10^{1} 10^{0} 10^{0} Te (μg/l) Te (μg/l) Te (μg/l) 10⁻² 10⁻² 10⁻³ 10^{-3} 10-2 10^{-1} 10^{0} 10^{1} 10^2 10^{0} 10^{-3} 10⁻² 10⁻¹ 10^{1} 10^{2} Cd (µg/l) Se (µg/l)

volcanic emissions. Many of the above mentioned volatile elements show therefore a good positive correlation (Fig. 28).

Figure 28: Correlation of Tellurium with others volatile elements in rainwater samples.

As previously seen with the major acidic gas species also for some volatile elements clear differences can be recognised between the different volcanic systems. For example at Vulcano a higher As/Te ratio with respect to the other volcanic systems can be recognised while Mt. Etna displays a higher Cu/Te ratio. Previous studies indeed revealed As enrichment at Vulcano (Arndt et al., 2016) and Cu enrichmet at Mt. Etna (Calabrese et al., 2011). These differences can be justified by differences in the geologic conditions of the studied volcanic systems (magmatic composition, presence of hydrothermal systems, etc.).

4.2.2. Volcanic ash and its contribution to atmospheric deposition

Volcanic ash is formed by fragmentation processes of the magma and the surrounding rock material of the volcanic vent (Langmann, 2013).

The interaction between ash, gases and aerosols is one of the important process that occurs within eruption plumes, indeed the volcanic ashes can be a sinks for various volcanic and atmospheric chemical species and sources for others (Delmelle *et al*, 2007).

Volcanic ash is released into the free troposphere and/or the stratosphere and interacts with the atmospheric, terrestrial and oceanic systems. The volcanic ash is transported by the prevailing winds until it is removed from the atmosphere by gravitational settling and wet deposition (Langmann, 2013). Its deposition brings also adsorbed materials that can be dispersed into the environment and is potentially hazardous for vegetation, livestock and people. The rate of their dispersal depends on the affinity of the materials to the ash, the nature of the surface of the ash, the substrate on which the ash is deposited and the presence of water. In addition, the volatile concentrations in the ash leachates can change according to eruption parameters and sample location (Witham *et al.*, 2005). The chemical composition of the volcanic ash is mainly determined by the magma from which it is generated and each magma has different melting points, viscosities, and typical volatile contents and this can change during the same eruption.

Óskarsson in the 1980 developed the idea that within eruption plumes variable scavenging of volatiles occurs in three temperature-dependent zones (Fig. 29): the "salt formation zone" where sulphate and halide salt aerosols are formed at near magmatic

temperatures and adsorbed onto ash particles; the "surface adsorption zone" where halogen gases react directly with the surface of ash at some what lower temperatures (\sim 700 °C); and the "condensation zone" characterized by the formation of sulphuric and halogen acids at temperatures below 338 °C, which will also be adsorbed onto ash particles (Delmelle *et al*, 2007).



Figura 29: Source Witham *et al.*, 2005 (modified after Oskarson, 1980) The figure depicts a Plinian eruption column with three hypothetical temperature-dependent zones

4.2.2.1 Volcanic Ash Results

In this study the fresh ashes ejected from Etna (Italy), Copahue volcano (Argentina) and San Miguel (El Salvador) were analysed. The samples, for all three volcanoes, were collected immediately after the eruptions. The event of Copahue occurred in December 2012, after 12 years of inactivity. Etna ashes samples were collected during 20 paroxysmal events occurred during the years, 2011 and 2012. San Miguel erupted in December 2013, after 11 years of inactivity.

The samples, when possible, were divided in the different grain sizes, otherwise the bulk sample was analysed (Fig. 30).



Figure 30: The histogram reports the different weight percent in the granulometric size in the ash of San Miguel, rim and valley (Val), and Copahue.

The concentrations measured in the ash leaching solutions range from <0.0003 to 0.015 μ g/g. All the samples collected in Etna gave values of Tellurium below the quantification limit (Fig. 31). Taking in account the same granulometric size, almost all the components, including Tellurium, presented higher concentrations in the ashes collected at Copahue.



Figure 31: Diagram with the concentrations of the leached ashes. The samples were collected at Mount Etna (Italy), Copahue (Argentina) and San Miguel (El Salvador). The red arrow indicates the Tellurium concentrations.

The results highlight the rapid dissolution of Tellurium from the ash surface indicating high mobility of this element among with other known mobile metals. Tellurium is probably carried out during the volcanic explosion forming hydro-soluble salts with the main acid volatile species (SO₂, HCl, HF), Te(SO₄)₂, TeCl₄ and TeF₄.

Also in this case Tellurium presents a good correlation with the others volatile elements, Antimony and Arsenic (Fig. 32). As expected, the concentrations of Tellurium increase with decreasing grain size of the ashes leached because of the greater specific surface area (Fig. 32). This process has important implications on atmospheric deposition chemistry: when the smaller particles are ejected into the atmosphere they can be transported for longer distance from the source-point, participating in the cloud processing and affecting sequentially the chemistry of the rain, plants and soils in the surroundings of active volcanoes.



Figure 32: The diagrams reported the correlation of Tellurium with others volatiles elements (Sb and As) in the volcanic ashes from Copahue and San Miguel. The numbers inside the circle rapresent the different granulometric sizes.

4.3 Soil and Plants

The plants need macronutrients (carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, calcium, magnesium and sulfur) and micronutrients (chlorine, iron, boron, manganese, zinc, copper, molybdenum and nickel) for their optimal growth and most of these elements are provided by the soil.

The soils represent the mass of inorganic and organic material, also containing gas and water, which develops in the upper part of the crust following the alteration by chemical and physical weathering of the rocks and biological action by microorganisms and vegetable cover. It is the interface between the lithosphere, the biosphere and the atmosphere (Amundson, 2003).

The inorganic constituents of the soils are mostly silicates, oxides and hydroxides of iron, aluminum, manganese, etc.

By degradation processes of plant residues (leaves, fruits, dry branches or whole plants), dead animals and from living or dead microorganism derives, instead, the organic fraction of soil. The organic compounds may remain unchanged for long periods (non-humic compounds) or run into deep and rapid transformations of their original chemical structure (humic compounds or humus).

The morphological, mineralogical, soil chemical and physical properties depend on the bedrock and environmental factors; in the case of volcanic environments, the soil, its constituents and its pH are the product of chemical alterations due to dry volcanic gas aerosol and ash depositions and the wet atmospheric depositions, determining a higher or lower availability of nutrients in plants. In the same way the pH of the soil affects the absorption of nutrients by plants. Along with nutrients, the deposition of volcanic emissions may also comprise toxic or undesirable elements and compounds.

The plants can be used for the biomonitoring that may be defined as the use of organisms to obtain information on certain characteristics of the atmosphere, as long as they qualitatively (bioindicators) and quantitatively (bioaccumulators) reflect their ambient conditions. The exposed bioindicators are subjected to variation of the physiology, the morphology and spatial distribution, while the bioaccumulators accumulate in their tissue without necessarily show external visible changes. Various bioaccumulators have been used in trace element air monitoring, such as mosses, lichens, ferns, grass, treebark and tree rings, leaves and conifer needles. This technique

relays on the fact that airborne elements and compounds can be delivered also directly from the atmosphere and absorbed by the aerial part of the plants (leaves, needles, bark). In the case of mosses and lichens this pathway is almost the only one the absorption from the soil being severely limited by the absence of roots.

The biomonitoring is passive when the organisms found in the area of study are used as biomonitors, instead it is active if the organisms are transplanted for this reason in the study area and analysed after a known period of exposition.

4.3.2 Passive Biomonitoring: Plant Results

Previous studies showed that the plants commonly contain low concentrations of Tellurium with variable range, according to the plant species, the availibility of this element in the soil and the environment of growth. For example it was observed that in some mining districts the vegetables, like the soil, have higher contents of Tellurium. The highest concentration of Tellurium is found in onion and garlic, up to 300 μ g/g, and the garlic odour is caused by vapours of dimethyltelluride (Kabata-Pendias, 2011).

For this study, the passive biomonitoring has been done at 9 different volcanic areas through the collection of leaves belonging to the following 9 different species: *Cistus sp.* (Vulcano Island, Stromboli and Nisyros); *Erica sp.*(Nysiros); *Amaranthus sp.* (Nyiragongo); *Senecio sp.* (Nyiragongo and Etna); *Rumex aethnensis* (Etna); *Salix sp.* (Gorely); Fern (Masaya and Soufriere); and samples of Mosses (Gorely) and Lichens (Turrialba). For comparison some plants from an industrial area (Augusta), *Olea sp.* and *Pinus sp.*, and a rural area (Ficuzza), *Pinus sp.*, were also investigated.

Generally the concentrations of Tellurium in the plants sampled for this study vary from < 0.0005 to 0.575 µg/g. The same species but in different volcanoes feature similar ranges (Fig. 33), while plants that bioaccumulate more tellurium are Senecio sp., mosses and lichens with values up to 0.575 µg/g. Comparing the concentrations of Tellurium with the distance it is deduced that the values of this element tend to decrease with the increase of the distance from volcano, thus confirming the contribution of the volcanoes to the accumulation of Tellurium in plants (Fig. 34).



Figure 33: The diagram represents with the green square the concentrations of Tellurium in different plants, 11 species in 9 volcanic areas, an industrial area and a rural area, collected and analysed for this study. The coloured bands indicate the range of previous studies and the dotted line reports the greater concentrations of tellurium in plants that were been found in garlic and onion (see the legend above).



Figure 34: The diagram reports the concentration of Tellurium *versus* the distance from the volcanic vents. The values of Tellurium tend to decrease with the distance.

Also in this case the tellurium shows a good correlation with the other volatile elements, as it is possible to see in the binary diagrams with Selenium and Bismuth (Fig. 35), where, considering the same species, the concentrations have a linear correlation.



Figure 35: The binary diagrams show the Tellurium versus volatiles elements with a good linear correlation.

4.3.3 Soil Results – Nisyros, a case of study

Regarding the Tellurium in the soils, also in this case, there are scarce data in the literature. For this study the soils from the Island of Nisyros (Greece) have been collected and analyzed. Samples were taken in the caldera, Lakki Plain, inside and outside the four craters.

The data show the influence of volcanic emissions on Tellurium concentrations, recording the highest values within the craters, particularly at Stephanos, 0.746 μ g/g (Fig. 36). Anyway, in general the concentrations inside the caldera are higher than the local background (0.004 μ g/g).



Figure 36: Map of Nisyos, the circles indicate the point of soils sampling, the circles inside the square are the points from 1 to 17 where also plants have been collected.

The concentrations of Tellurium in leaves of two indigenous plants (*Cistus sp.* and *Erica sp.*) collected at Nisyros were compared with the corresponding concentrations in the soils collected around the respective plant samples. The values of Tellurium in the leaves tend to grow with the increase of this element in soils (Figs. 37-38). The plants, particularly *Cistus*, tend to take up more Tellurium close to the active fumarolic areas. This suggests a bioaccumulation of tellurium from the soil but also from the atmosphere.



Figure 37: Diagram shows the concentrations of Tellurium in plants and respective soils.



Figura 38: Concentrations of Tellurium in soil and plants (*Cistus* and *Erica*), values are generally greater than the local background and the concentrations in the plants are positively correlated with that of the soils.

As for other analysed media, Tellurium shows at Nisyros a good correlation with other volatile elements also in soils and plants. The figure 39 shows as an example the correlation of Tellururium with Selenium.



Figure 39: The concentrations reported in the binary diagram Te vs. Se shows a good positive correlation both in soils and plants.

4.3.4 Active Biomonitoring: Moss Bag Results

The moss-bags technique has been extensively used for active biomonitoring in the past 40 years as an efficient technique to study atmospheric pollutants, but in the last years the moss bags have been successfully applied also in volcanic environments (Arndt et al., 2014; Calabrese *et al.* 2015; Calabrese & D'Alessandro, 2015).

In this study the moss-bags have been used to study Tellurium and other trace element's emissions from two volcanic areas: Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo) and Nisyros (Greece).

On the 2014 six moss-bags, covered and uncovered, were positioned at Nyiragongo (Fig. 40) but with different times of exposition. Four moss-bags situated on the rim of volcano were exposed to volcanic emissions for three days, while other two, at greater distance from the rim, at Rusayo and Kingi, were exposed for 35 days.



Figure 40: Map of Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo) with the green circles that indicate the sampling sites where the moss-bags were positioned, the circles with the numbers were on the rim.

Moreover, 16 uncovered moss-bags were exposed at the island of Nisyros for ten days on 2013. In the map (Fig. 41) only the points inside the Lakki Caldera are indicated and

the point, Belvedere, was positioned on the caldera rim at greater distance (2,5 km). In this map the concentration ranges of Tellurium are reported. The values are highest inside the hydrothermal explosion craters, Phlegeton, Andreas and Stephanos, where the main fumarolic areas are found and decrease progressively moving away from the main vents. The lowest value of concentration for this element was found at Belvedere point (Fig. 41).



Figure 41: Map of Volcanic area at Nisyros (Greece), the circles with differents colour indicate the points of some moss-bags positioned in the island and the ranges of concentration of Tellurium.

Considering all two volcanoes, in the moss-bags the concentrations of Tellurium range from 0.001 μ g/g, measured in the unexposed mosses and at the point Belvedere, at Nisyros, far from the main vents of the island, up to 0.111 μ g/g in the uncovered mossbag at Nyiragongo on the rim, the point 1 in the map (Fig. 40), confirming the enrichment of this element from the volcanoes through emissions and/or deposition. In all the samples the uncovered moss-bags show values of Tellurium greater than the corresponding covered ones (Fig. 42). Comparing it with some of the others elements it is possible to see that Tellurium tends to increase its concentrations especially close to the emission vents and, in all two volcanoes, the values of Tellurium have ranges that are greater with respect to other elements. In particular, this enrichment is more accentuated at Nisyros where the others elements in the moss-bags seem not be influenced from the fumarolic emissions possibly due to the too short exposition time (Fig.42).



Figure 42: The two diagrams show the concentration of some elemments measured in the moss-bags in Nisyros (Greece) and Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo). The red band indicates the concentratons of Tellurium.

5. Discussion

The results of this study contribute to increase significantly our knowledge about tellurium distribution in volcanic areas. The table 5 shows the different matrices and the numbers of samples analysed, the range obtained in this study were compared with the range of previuos studies.

Table 5. Comparation between the ranges of this study and previous studies.						
Matrices investigated	Number	Range of this study	Range in literature	References		
_	of samples		_			
Volcanic plume	65	<0.003-0.151 µg/m ³	0.001-0.19 µg/m ³	Aiuppa <i>et al.</i> , 2003; Mather <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Moune <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Allard et al., 2000		
	98	0.01.2.0 /	0.002-0.025 µg/l	Belzilea & Chen, 2015		
Rainwater		<0.01-3.2 µg/1	(Rainwater background)			
Volcanic ash	23	<0.0003-0.015 µg/g	No data			
Plants	200	<0.0005-0.575 µg/g	0.013.0.35 ug/g	Kabata-Pendias, 2011 and		
Passive biomonitoring	200		0.013-0.35 µg/g	reference there in		
Moss Bags	10	0.001-0.111.ug/g	No data			
Active biomonitoring	17	0.001-0.111 µg/g				
			<0.02-0.81 µg/g	Fulignatti et al., 2006		
Soil	22	0.004-0.746 µg/g				
			0.027 $\mu g/g$ (world average)	Yang et al., 2014		

Table 5: Comparation between the ranges of this study and previous studies.

Regarding the estimates of Tellurium in volcanic emissions (concentrations and fluxes), the volcanic areas studied have been 11 and the concentrations of Tellurium were calculated for the first time in 10 of these. All the values, including the data of literature, are greater than the atmospheric background levels (<0.001 μ g/m³ - from Belzilea & Chen 2015), indicating the prevailing volcanogenic origin of Te.

Volcanic emissions are dispesed in the atmosphere, influencing the composition of rainwater. Atmospheric depositions are the most important way to transfer the elements from the atmosphere to the ground and consequently to all the terrestrial environments (soils, groundwater, plants, animals and humans). Nowadays very few data are available about Te abundances in atmospheric deposition and no data in volcanic environments. The data here reported are the first results of the concentrations of Te in rainwater collected close to active volcanoes; results showed very high concentrations of Te in rainwater with respect to the background values reported by Belzilea & Chen (2015) (Tab. 5). As well as for rainwaters, no data about Tellurium in volcanic ashes are reported in the literature. During the paroxysmal event the ejected ash interacts with the atmosphere and is subjected to leaching processes during its travel through the atmosphere affecting the composition of rainwater and, after its deposition, also that of

the soil and plants. Also for the plants (active and passive biomonitoring) the concentrations of Tellurium are the first results obtained in volcanic area. Regarding the soil in volcanic area, one previous study reported data of Tellurium (Fulignatti *et al.*, 2006) and the range reported are the same of this study (Tab. 5).

5.1. The volatility of Tellurium

The volatility of an element or compound is not a univocally defined concept but roughly we can state that highly volatile elements or compounds have a higher tendency to be partitioned in the vapour or gaseous phase.

From the chemical-physical point of view, volatility is defined as the tendency of a substance (liquid or solid) to vaporize into an evacuated space and can be measured through the substance's vapour pressure with which it is directly related. At a given temperature, a substance with higher vapour pressure vaporizes more readily than a substance with a lower vapour pressure. Figure 43 shows that elemental Tellurium is among the native elements, solid or liquid at ambient temperature, with relatively high vapour pressure. The measured values are similar to other metals and metalloids considered highly volatile at magmatic temperatures like Cd, As and Se (Honig and Kramer, 1969).



Figure 43: The diagram correlates the ambient temperature with vapour pressure, the curves indicate the behaviour of elements more volatiles.
Another way to characterize the "volatility" of an element takes in account the boiling point (or sublimation point) of the native elements. On this basis Haynes (2010) proposed this sequence of the relative anhydrous volatility of the elements of geochemical and economic interest: Hg>As>Se>Te>Tl>Sb>Pb>Ag>Cu>Au. Again Tellurium is among the most volatile elements.

In natural conditions native elements are very rare and the elements are incorporated in various mineral phases which are more or less stable in the range of conditions found at active volcanic systems. In addition, the element's partitioning into the vapour phase can be significantly enhanced by complexing with sulfur, water, and halides in the vapour (Zajacz *et al.*, 2010).

Furthermore, degassing conditions can be very different from one volcanic system to another. For example, at open-conduit volcanoes gas-rich magmatic fluids are released at magmatic temperatures directly from molten lava to the atmosphere. Such fluids are very different from high temperature hydrothermal fluids where the composition is dominated by solubility-driven exchanges between hot water and rocks. Hydrothermal fluids will additionally be influenced by pressure and temperature changes on their way to the surface up to their emission point to the atmosphere. The result of thermodynamic and kinetic controls on the composition of these gases as they exit a volcano can vary greatly in space and time (Saunders and Brueseke 2012).

To have an idea of the "volatility" of an element in such wide range of chemical and physical conditions some empirical indicators have been adopted as for example the emanation coefficient (Rubin, 1997) or the enrichment factor (Mather, 2015). Both parameters cannot be directly compared between different volcanic systems but rather give a relative scale of "volatility" for the examined elements. Some examples of volatility orders are given for different volcanic systems:

- Kudryavy volcano (Russian Federation) Bi>Cd≈Se≈Te>Pb>As>Tl≈Zn>Rb≈Sb>Cu
- Hekla volcano (Iceland) Cd>Te≈Tl>Bi≈Cu≈Pb>Zn≈Sb>Rb (As and Se not included)
- Kilauea (U.S.A.) Se≈Te>Cd≈Bi>Tl>As≈Pb≈Sb≈Zn>Cu≈Rb

In this examples Tellurium is compared to other elements that are considered volatile and is mostly found in the highest part of the ranking notwithstanding the fact that volcanic systems in different state of activity are considered. At the time of the sampling Kudriyavy volcano was a closed conduit volcano with intense high temperature (up to 950°C) fumarolic activity (Taran *et al.*, 1995), Hekla volcano was erupting (Moune *et al.*, 2006) and Kilauea an open conduit volcano in passive degassing state (Mather *et al.*, 2012).

A strong impact on the high volatility of Tellurium derives from the fact that this element can form a lot of compounds that are in the gaseous phase a relatively low or even ambient temperature in a wide range of redox conditions and chemical compositions.

For example at the very low redox conditions ($fO_2 < 10^{-25}$) of hydrothermal systems Grundler *et al.* (2013) calculated a partitioning coefficient (K_d = Te concentration in vapour/Te concentration in liquid) up to >10⁵ in favour of the vapour at 300°C. Cooke and McPhail (2001) calculated sub-ppt concentrations of Te in 300 °C epithermal-type waters, and suggested that the high volatility of reduced Te species (e.g., H₂Te(g); Te₂(g)) is responsible for the enrichment of Te in fumarolic emissions of up to about 0.1 ppm.

At higher redox conditions Tellurium oxidize to TeO₂ which is also volatile at high temperature. But its volatility is significantly enhanced in the presence of steam (water vapour), because of the formation of TeO₂•xH₂O(g) species (Glemser *et al.*, 1964, 1965). The stoichiometry of the volatile Te species is dependent on the vapour pressure: at low steam pressure (≤ 1 bar, 450–700 °C), TeO(OH)₂(g) is present whereas at higher pressures (3 to 455 bar, 418 °C and 470 °C), Te(OH)₄(g) is the main Te-bearing species (Glemser *et al.*, 1964, 1965). The latter species could be one of the main species that could be emitted directly from the magma during passive degassing or eruptive phases. But in these conditions the presence of high contents of halogens in magmas will lead to the formation of Te-halide compounds. These are all in the gaseous phase at magmatic temperatures and some of them are gaseous also at ambient temperature although all are highly instable at atmospheric oxygen concentrations. On the basis of the high positive correlation between Te and F Moune et al. (2006) hypothesized that Te, during the

eruption of Hekla volcano (Iceland) in 2000, was transported prevailingly as fluorides $(TeF_4 \text{ or } TeF_6)$ and in minor quantities as chlorides.

5.2. The enrichment factors

To disentangle the contributions from ash/silicate versus volatilisation and thus assess the volatility of trace metals from magmas several methodologies have been used including: (i) emanation coefficients (ϵ x), (ii) enrichment factors (EFs) and (iii) weight ash fraction (WAF) (Mather, 2015).

Here we used the EFs to comprehend the behaviour of Te and its relation respect to the other investigated elements.

The (EF) is a useful tool to highlight the degree of enrichment or depletion of a given element in a geochemical medium compared to the relative abundance of the same element in a reference material (rm) (Goldberg, 1972; Chester *and* Stoner, 1973; Zoller *et al.*, 1974, Peirson *et al.*, 1974; Duce *et al.*, 1975; Rahn, 1976; Buat-Ménard *and* Chesselet, 1979).

The enrichment factors can be calculated as shown by Chester *and* Stoner (1973) or Zoller *et al.* (1974):

$EF = (Cx/Cr)_{sample} / (Cx/Cr)_{rm}$

where $(Cx/Cr)_{sample}$ is the concentrations ratio of an element (x) normalized to a reference element (r) in the sample, and $(Cx/Cr)_{rm}$ is the corresponding ratio observed in a reference material (rm) generally the average crustal composition (Mason and Moore, 1982).

In the case of volcanic aerosol for each element the Enrichment Factor (EF) was calculated referring to the continental crust compositions (Wedepohl, 1995) and the reference element used was magnesium, as recently used by several authors (e.g. Calabrese et al., 2011; Zelenski et al., 2014; Gauthier et al., 2016). Tellurium is enriched in volcanic emissions similarly and sometimes even more than other volatile elements of volcanogenic origin. This is clearly visibile in the figures 44-45-46 where the EFs of the three volcanic systems are represented.

Notwithstanding the fact that Tellurium is one of the less abundant elements of the terrestrial crust, in the emissions of the three volcanoes it is one of the most enriched elements, further underscoring its extreme volatility in this environment.

In all three volcanoes, Tellurium is the most enriched element and shows EFs>1000. Among the elements with EF>10, considering the median values of the calculated EFs, the most enriched in order are:

- Te>Se>Tl>Bi≈Cd>As>B≈Sb≈Zn≈Cu for Mount Etna;
- Te>Se~Cd>Bi>Tl~Pb>As~B~Sn>Cu for Nyiragongo;
- Te>Sb>B>As>Bi>Se>Tl>Cd>Sn≈Cu for Vulcano Island.

Mount Etna and Nyiragongo, both with open conduit, show a similar order of enrichment, while Vulcano Island a close conduit volcano with significant hydrothermal contribution shows a different order.



Figura 44: Diagram shows the EF(Mg) in volcanic emissions at Mount Etna with respect to the continental crust. Tellurium is evidenced by the rectangle.



Figura 45: Diagram shows the EF(Mg) in volcanic emissions at Nyiragongo with respect to the continental crust. Tellurium is evidenced by the rectangle.



Figura 46: Diagram shows the EF(Mg) in volcanic emissions at Vulcano with respect to the continental crust. Tellurium is evidenced by the rectangle.

Also for bulk deposition enrichment factors have been calculated with respect to the mean crustal composition and Mg as normalizing element. Notwithstanding its sometimes very low concentrations (Fig. 22) also in bulk deposition Te shows high enrichment factors comparable or sometimes even higher than typical volcanogenic volatile elements like S, Cl, F, As and Se (Fig. 47).

Also in this case, excluding the major species, Tellurium is the most enriched element in Mount Etna and Nyiragongo, instead boron is the first element in order of enrichment at Vulcano Island probably due to the influence of hydrothermal system, although Tellurium is still one of the most enrichment elements.



Figure 47: Diagram with the EFs of the rain components collected at Mount Etna (Italy), Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo) and Island of Vulcano (Italy). Tellurium is evidenced with a rectangle.

The Enrichment Factor (EF) refered to the continental crust compositions (Wedepohl, 1995) and magnesium as the reference element was calculated also in the moss-bags. In this case, in general, the mosses are enriched in tellurium in comparison to the continental crust, see the blanks, but the enrichment is greater in the uncovered moss-bags (Fig.48). Tellurium is always among the most enriched elements with respect to the unexposed moss (moss-blank). In the case of Nisyros it results the only element, besides sulphur, that is significantly enriched with respect to moss-blank (Fig. 48).



Figure 48: The two diagrams show the EFs of the three volcanic systems in the moss-bags and the blanks

The enrichment factor (EF) was calculated also for the soils of Nisyros, referring to the values of the local background. Also in this case the reference element used was the Magnesium. The figure 49 shows the diagram of the EFs of Tellurium, Selenium and Sulphur. Tellurium is more enriched than Selenium and its enrichment increases when the pH decreases. The variation of pH is due to the oxidation of H₂S, in fact the Sulphur is particularly enrichment at low values of pH (Fig. 49). Lower pH values testify for higher fumarolic gas fluxes through the soil correlated to enhanced enrichments of Tellurium, Selenium and Sulphur which probably rise up from the hydrothermal system in their most reduced form following the gaseous phase (H₂Te, H₂Se and H₂S). These gases are subsequently oxidised both within the shallowest part of the soil and in the atmosphere.



Figura 49: EF (Mg) calculated for Tellurium, Sulphur, and Selenium in the soil compared with the pH of the soils. The soil collected in the local background is the reference for EF calculation.

If we calculate the enrichment factor of Tellurium with respect to the corresponding soil on which the plant, Cistus sp. and Erica sp. collected at Nisyros, was growing and always Mg as normalizing element it can be evidenced that the element is always depleted except in the background samples (Fig. 50). Comparing the calculated EFs with the measured soil pH evidences a positive relation with the most depleted samples showing the lowest pH. Such pattern probably reflects a lower Te absorption by the roots of the plant with respect to Mg. This should depend from different mobility of the two elements in the soil at different pH values. Indeed Mg is almost exclusively present as Mg^{2+} ion in the whole range of measured pH values while Te is in the form of $H_2TeO_3(aq)$ in the range 2.4 – 6.3 and as $HTeO_3^-$ between 6.3 and 8.7 (McPhail, 1995). The different speciation strongly affects the aqueous solubility of Te which shows its minimum value at pH 4 and an increase of solubility of nearly two orders of magnitude between pH 5 and 7 (Grundler et al., 2013). Although this cannot be simply transferred to more complex soil environment, where interactions with soil components such as organic matter, Fe and Al oxi-hydroxides, clay minerals may play an important role, but may justify a lower uptake of Te with respect to Mg in the soils with lower pH values. In all cases Tellurium, in soil and plants, is enriched with respect to the continental crust and it is evident that the enrichment of this element increases with the decrease of pH in all matrices (Fig. 51).



Figure 50: EF (Mg) calculated for Tellurium in plants (*Cistus sp.* and *Erica sp.*) compared with the pH of the soils at Nisyros. The soils collected in each point together to the plants are the reference for EF calculation.



Figure 51: EF (Mg) calculated for Tellurium in soil and plants (*Cistus sp.* and *Erica sp.*) compared with the pH of the soils at Nisyros. The continental crust is the reference for EF calculation.

5.3. Volcanic global budget of Tellurium

5.3.1. Literature review on Tellurium in volcanic emission

In the literature only few estimations regarding Tellurium plume concentrations and fluxes from active volcanoes were reported. The figure 52 shows all estimations of Tellurium fluxes in volcanic environment presented in the previous studies, the highest estimations of Tellurium fluxes in volcanic environment are given by Hinkley and coworkers (1999) with 22 ton/year released from Kilauea (Hawaii, USA), while for Erta Ale (Ethiopia) only 0.2 ton/year were reported (Zelensky *et al.*, 2013). The fluxes of volatile elements, including Tellurium, vary with time also in the same volcano. In the

same work of Hinkley *et al.* indicated above a maximum value for the global estimate of tellurium of 270 tons/year is reported, confirming the fact that the volcanic emissions provide an important contribution of this element to the atmosphere (Fig. 53).



Figura 52: The diagram shows the fluxes to the atmosphere of some elements, including Tellurium (the red bars), reported in the literature for different volcanoes.



Figure 53: The grapic reports the global estimate of some volcanogenic trace elements, including Tellurium, indicated in the work of Hinkley and coworkers (1999).

5.3.2. New estimations

Basing on the measured concentrations of Tellurium in atmospheric particulate it was possible to estimate the fluxes of this element. Generally, the approach used to estimate the fluxes of volcanogenic metals consist in scaling the metal/sulphur ratio of volcanic emissions, by the sulphur fluxes (Oppenheimer, 2003). In this study, the fluxes of tellurium are calculated by the following expression:

$\Phi_{Me} = (|Me|/|SO_2|) \Phi_{SO2}$

where Φ_{Me} is the metal flux, $|Me|/|SO_2|$ is the metal-to-sulphur dioxide mass ratios, and Φ_{SO2} is the flux of sulphur dioxide. The SO₂ fluxes were taken from literature or communicated from other research groups and were obtained by using remote sensing techniques, for example: Correlation Spectrometry (COSPEC), Differential Optical Absorption Spectroscopy (DOAS), UV – Camera.

In order to obtain the fluxes, the Tellurium/sulphur dioxide ratios were calculated. The data range from 10^{-8} to $5 \cdot 10^{-5}$, considering that samples of various volcanoes with different activity status have been analysed. From this ratios the fluxes of Tellurium were estimated and there is a general agreement between fluxes estimated in this work and previous assessments (Fig. 54).



Figure 54: The diagram presents the fluxes of Tellurium calculated in this study. Excepting Copahue (acid lake) and Vulcano (fumarole), the values are in agreement with the previous works, indicated with the red dotted line, the key of numbers is: 1) Erta Ale - Zelenski *et al.*, 2013; 2) Stromboli - Allard *et al.*, 2000; 3) White Island – Tedesco & Toutain, 1991; 4) Kilauea – Mather et al., 2012; 5) Etna – Aiuppa, 1999; 6) Masaya – Moune *et al.*, 2010; 7) Kilauea – Hinhley *et al.*, 1999.

Taking into account old and new data a global Volcanic flux of Tellurium (GVFTe) was extrapolated considering the Te/SO₂ ratios obtained in the present and previous studies and the global volcanic SO₂ flux estimations taken from literature (Fig. 56). As seen in the figure 55 the global range of Te/SO₂ is large but most of the values fall in the narrower range from 1.02×10^{-6} to 7.9×10^{-6} (interquartile range) which was considered for calculation. For the global flux of SO₂ we took in account the range 15 – 40 Mton/year, considering the minimum and maximum estimations of the most recent works (Graf *et al.* 1997; Halmer *et al.*, 2002; Fig. 56). Thus the global Volcanic flux of Tellurium should range from a minimum of 15.3 to a maximum of 316 ton/year. Considering the median value from the considered Te/SO₂ ratios and the average value of Halmers and coworkers global SO₂ flux estimation, our best estimation of the global volcanic Tellurium flux results in 98 ton/year. This value is not so different from the only previous value of Hinkley and coworkers that estimated an upper limit of 270 ton/year and thus confirming the relevance of this element in the total volatile output from active volcanoes.



Figure 55: The diagram shows the Ratio Te/SO₂ calculated with data from previeus and this study.



Figure 56: Annual global volcanic SO₂ emission fluxes into the atmosphere by different authors. For the last two estimations the brown area represents the most probable range.

5.4. Impact on human health and the environment

From previous studies we know that the toxicity of Tellurium is similar to Arsenic and Selenium. Tellurite, Te (IV), is a little more toxic than selenite or arsenite, and instead tellurate, Te (VI), is little less toxic than selenite and arsenate (Taylor, 1999 - Tab. 6). The less oxidated species are more toxic in all three elements.

In volcanic areas, the concentrations of Tellurium in plume emission are lower, sometimes orders of magnitude, than the concentrations of Arsenic and Selenium, as reported in the results of this study. Furthermore also other elements with similar toxicity as for example Pb and Sb display similar or higher concentrations, while less toxic compounds like SO₂, H₂S, HCl or HF are emitted in quantities that are many orders of magnitude higher than Te. Consequently, the tellurium contribution to toxic

burden of volcanic plume emissions can be considered minor and the effects of tellurium on humans due to inhalation in volcanic areas can be regarded as negligible. Nevertheless, the high Tellurium enrichment factors calculated for bulk deposition, soil and plants in volcanic areas testify for a clear impact of volcanic emissions on the environment close to volcanic areas. But also for plants and animals despite its much higher than background levels, in volcanic areas this element doesn't seem show effect of toxicity.

Minimum Fatal Doses Associated with Te, Se and As Compounds		
Sodium tellurite	Na ₂ TeO ₃	2.25-2.50 mg Te/kg
Sodium tellurate	Na_2TeO_4	20.0-30.0 mg Te/kg
Sodium selenite	Na ₂ SeO ₃	3.25-3.50 mg Se/kg
Sodium selenate	Na ₂ SeO ₄	5.25-5.75 mg Se/kg
Sodium arsenite	Na ₂ HAsO ₃	4.25-4.75 mg As/kg
Sodium arsenate	Na ₂ HAsO ₄	14.0-18.0 mg As/kg

 Table 6: Table modified from Taylor (1997)

In the figure 57 is reported the global production of Tellurium from 1940 to 2010. The trend shows the considerable increase of the production during the last years, due to the development of industrial use of this element, from 12.5 ton/year in 1946 to 500 ton/year in the last years (Kavlak & Graedel, 2013). Comparing this data with the GVFTe estimated in this study (Fig. 57), it is evident that the impact of Tellurium on the environment by human industrial activities is greater respect to the past; however, the effects of end-use are almost unknown.



Figure 57: World Tellurium production (data from Kavlak & Graedel, 2013) comparison with GVFTe.

Conclusions

Tellurium is one of the most abundant elements in the Universe among the elements with atomic number over 40, but in contrast is also one of the rarest elements on earth, considering that background levels of tellurium in the crust vary from a few ppb to hundreds of ppm, in relation to the different kind of rocks. In the last years the commercial importance of tellurium has considerably increased because of its wide use in solar cells and electronic devices. Despite such large use, scientific knowledge about volcanogenic tellurium is very poor. Only few reports are available about tellurium concentrations in volcanic plumes and more generally in volcanic areas.

In order to better understand the geochemical behaviour of this element in volcanic systems, considering the scarcity of available data in literature, a dataset of Tellurium abundances in different geochemical matrices (volcanic plumes, rainwaters, ashes, volcanic soils and plants) has been created.

The main results of this work regard the study of mobility of tellurium in active volcanic environments. Coupling all the obtained data it was possible to trace the path of this metalloid starting from the emission sources that are both volcanic gases and in some cases volcanic soluble salts adsorbed on ashes, until its dispersion path through the atmosphere, and the deposition processes to the soils and accumulation in the vegetation.

The results of the volcanic gas emissions (plume, fumaroles, ash leachates) from some active volcanoes, Etna, Vulcano, Turrialba, Miyakejima, Aso, Asama and Mutnovsky, suggest a primary transport of Tellurium in the volatile phase, mainly during passive degassing in gaseous form and as soluble salts mainly as halides adsorbed on the surface of volcanic particles and ashes during explosive activity. Volcanic ashes emitted during explosive events on Etna and Copahue volcanoes (analyzed for tellurium bulk composition and after leaching experiments to evaluate the soluble fraction of tellurium), shows, as expected, an increase with decreasing grain size of the ashes because of the greater specific surface area. This means that when the smaller particles are ejected into the atmosphere they can be transported for longer distance from the source-point, participating to the cloud processing and affecting sequentially the chemistry of the rain, plants and soils in the surroundings of the emission area. The high Tellurium enrichment factors comparable and sometimes even higher than typical

volcanogenic volatile elements like S, Cl, F, As and Se calculated for the rainwaters (bulk deposition), for the soils and plants in volcanic areas testify a clear impact of tellurium on the environment close to the active volcanic areas. Soils and leaves of vegetation sampled close to active volcanic vents (Etna, Vulcano, Nisyros, Nyiragongo, Turrialba, Gorely and Masaya) and investigated for tellurium contents show higher concentrations suggesting a bioaccumulation process of tellurium.

On the base of the new data obtained on many active worldwide volcanoes an estimation of the global volcanic flux of Tellurium (GVFTe) has been made. The best estimation of the global volcanic Tellurium flux results in 98 ton/year, confirming the relevance of this element in the total volatile output from active volcanoes (previous study of Hinkey *et al.*, 1999 estimated an upper limit of 270 ton/year). Moreover these new data show very high enrichments of tellurium in volcanic emissions comparing with other volatile elements like mercury, arsenic, thallium and bismuth suggesting a primary transport in the volatile phase, probably directly in gaseous form.

Concluding the results of this study with a great amount of unpublished data on the different matrices analyzed increase our knowledge about the abundances and the distribution of tellurium in volcanic active areas and improves our knowledge about the mechanisms of transport, deposition and bioaccumulation of this extraordinary element.

References

Agusto M., 2011. Estudio geoquímico de los fluidos volcánicos e hidrotermales del Complejo Volcánico Copahue Caviahue y su aplicación para tareas de seguimiento.
PhD thesis, 270 pp., Universidad de Buenos Aires.

- Agusto M., Tassi F., Caselli A. T., Vaselli O., Rouwet D., Capaccioni B., Caliro S., 2013. Gas geochemistry of the magmatic-hydrothermal fluid reservoir in the Copahue-Caviahue volcanic complex (Argentina). J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 257, 44–56.

- Aiuppa A., 2015. Volcanic-gas monitoring. In: Volcanism and Global Environmental Change. Eds. Anja Schmidt, Kirsten E. Fristad and Linda T. Elkins-Tanton. Published by Cambridge University Press. 81 - 96

-Aiuppa A., Allard P., D'Alessandro W., Michel A., Parello F., Treuil M., Valenza M., 2000. Mobility and fluxes major, minor and trace metals during basalt weathering and groundwater transport at Mt. Etna volcano (Sicily). Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 64, 1827-1841.

- Aiuppa A., Dongarrà G., Federico C., Pecoraino G., Valenza M., 2003a. Degassing of trace volatile metals during the 2001 eruption of Etna. In: Robock, A., Oppenheimer, C. (Eds.), Volcanism and the Earth's Atmosphere. Geophysical Monograph, 139.

- Aiuppa A., Bellomo S., Brusca L., D'Alessandro W., Federico C., 2003b. Natural and anthropogenic factors affecting groundwaters quality of an active volcano (Mt. Etna, Italy). Applied Geochemistry, 18, 863-882.

- Aiuppa A., Federico C., Franco A., Giudice G., Guerrieri S., Inguaggiato S., Liuzzo M., McGonigle A.J.S., Valenza M., 2005. Emission of bromine and iodine from Mount Etna volcano. Geochem. Geosyst., 6, Q08008, doi: 10.1029/2005GC00965.

- Allard P., Carbonelle J., Dajlevic D., Le Bronec J., Morel P., Robe M.C., Maurenas J.M., Faivre-Pierret R., Martin R., Sabroux D., Zettwoog P., 1991. Eruptive and diffuse emissions of CO2 from Mt. Etna. Nature, 351, 387-391.

- Allard P., 1997. Endogenous magma degassing and storage at Mt. Etna. Geophys. Res. Lett., 24 (17), 2219-2222

- Allard P., Aiuppa A., Loyer H., Carrot F., Gaudry A., Pinte G., Michel A., and Dongarra `G., 2000. Acid gas and metal emission rates during long-lived basalt degassing at Stromboli volcano. Geophys. Res. Lett. 27, 1207–1210.

- Alloway B.J., Ayres D.C., 1997. Chemical Principles of Environmental Pollution. 2nd Edition. Blackie Academic and professional, London.

- Amundson R., 2003. Soil formation. In: Surface and Ground Water, Weathering, and Soils (ed J.I. Drever) vol 5, Treatise on geochemistry (eds HD Holland & KK Turekian), Elsevier-Pergamon, Oxford, pp 1–35.

- An J., Zhang Q., 1983. An analytical method of ultra-trace tellurium for samples of sea- and environmental-water. Intern. J. Environ. Anal. Chem. 14, 73-80.

- Andreae M.O., 1984. Determination of inorganic tellurium species in natural waters. Anal. Chem. 56, 2064-2066.

- Arndt J., Calabrese S., D'Alessandro W., Planer-Friedrich B., 2014. Active moss monitoring allows to identify and track distribution of metal(loid)s emitted from fumaroles on Vulcano Island, Italy. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res. 280, 30–39.

- Arndt J., Ilgen G., Planer-Friedrich B., 2016. Evaluation of techniques for sampling volatile Arsenic on Volcanoes. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.

- Asami T., Tsuchihashim K., Kubota M., 1999. Contamination of Soils and Plants by Tellurium, in: Proc. 5th International Conference on the Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements, Vienna, pp. 934–935.

- Aulbach S., Stachel T., Seitz H., Brey G.P., 2012. Chalcophile and siderophile elements in sulphide inclusions in eclogitic diamonds and metal cycling in a Paleoproterozoic subduction zone. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 93 (2012) 278–299.

- Ba L.A., Doring M., Jamier V., Jacob C., 2010. Tellurium: an element with great biological potency and potential. Org. Biomol. Chem. 8, 4203–4216.

- Barberi F., Civetta L., Gasparini P., Innocenti F., Scandone R., Villari L., 1974. Evolution of a section of the Africa-Europe plate boundary: paleomagnatic and volcanological evidence from Sicily. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett., 22, 123-132.

- Basnayake R.S.T., Bius J.H., Akpolat O.M., Chasteen T.G., 2001. Production of dimethyl telluride and elemental tellurium by bacteria amended with tellurite or tellurate. Appl. Organomet. Chem. 15, 499-510.

- Baxter P.J., Stoiber R.E., Williams S.N., 1982. Volcanic gases and health: Masaya volcano, Nicaragua: Lancet, v. 2, p. 150-151.

- Bellomo S., Aiuppa A., D'Alessandro W., Parello F., 2007. Environmental impact of magmatic fluorine emission in the Mt. Etna area. Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research Volume: 165, Issue: 1-2, August 15, 2007, pp. 87-101.

- Belzile N., Chen Y., 2015. Tellurium in the environment A critical review focused on natural. Applied Geochemistry 63 (2015) 83-92.

- Bernard A., Symonds R.B., Rose W.I., 1990. Volatile transport and deposition of Mo, W and Re in high temperature magmatic fluids. Appl Geochem 5:317–326.

- Berner E.K., Berner R.A., 1996. Global Environment: Water, Air, and Geochemical Cycles: Upper Saddle River, NJ (Prentice Hall).

- Bolognesi L., D'Amore F., 1993. Isotopic variation of the hydrothermal system on Vulcano Island, Italy. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 57:2069–2082

- Bonaccorso A., Calvari S., Coltelli M., Del Negro C., Falsaperla S., 2004. Mt. Etna: Volcano Laboratory AGU Geophysical Monograph Series, 143, 2004.

- Bowen, H.J.M., 1979. Environmental Chemistry of the Element. Academic Press (London) Ltd, p. 333.

- Brombach T., Caliro S., Chiodini G., Fiebig J., Hunziker J.C., Raco B., 2003. Geochemical evidence for mixing of magmatic fluids with seawater, Nisyros hydrothermal system, Greece. Bull. Volcanol., 65(7), 505–516.

- Brombach T., Hunziker J.C., Chiodini G., Cardellini C., Marini L., 2001. Soil diffuse degassing and thermal energy fluxes from the southern Lakki plain, Nisyros (Greece), Geophysical Research Letters, 28 (1), 69-72.

- Brookins D.G., 1988. Eh-pH Diagrams for Geochemistry. Springer-Verlag, pp. 20-21.

- Bruno N., Caltabiano T., Grasso F., Porto M., Romano R., 1996. Degassing of SO2 and CO2 at Mount Etna volcano during the 1991-1993 eruption: correlations and considerations. Acta Vulcanol., 4, 143-147.

- Brusca L., Aiuppa A., D'Alessandro W., Parello F., Allard P., Michel A., 2001. Geochemical mapping of magmatic gas-water-rock interactions in the acquifer of Mount Etna volcano. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., special issue "Magma degassing through volcanoes" 108 (1-4), 199-218.

- Buat-Ménard P, Chesselet R., 1979. Variable influence of the atmospheric flux on the trace metal chemistry of oceanic suspended matter. Earth and Planetary Science Letters; 42:399–411.

- Calabrese S., Aiuppa A., Allard P., Bagnato E., Bellomo S., Brusca L., D'Alessandro W., Parello F., 2011. Atmospheric sources and sinks of volcanogenic elements in a basaltic volcano (Etna, Italy). Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 75, 7401–7425.

- Calabrese S., D'Alessandro W., Bellomo S., Brusca L., Martin R.S., Parello F., 2014. Characterization of the Etna volcanic emissions through an active biomonitoring technique (moss-bags): Part 1 – Major and trace element composition. Chemosphere.

Calabrese S., D'Alessandro W., Parello F., Brusca L., Bellomo S., 2015. Chemical and Mineralogical characterization of Etnean Volcanic Emissions using Active Biomonitoring Technique (Moss-Bags): Part 1 – Major and trace element composition. Chemosphere 119, pp. 1447-1455.

Calabrese S., D'Alessandro W., 2015. Chemical and Mineralogical characterization of Etnean Volcanic Emissions using Active Biomonitoring Technique (Moss-Bags): Part 2
Morphological and mineralogical features. Chemosphere vol. 119, pp. 1456-1464.

- Calabrese S., Scaglione S., Milazzo S., D'Alessandro W., Bobrowski N., Giuffrida G.B., Tedesco D., Parello F., Yalire M., 2014. Passive degassing at Nyiragongo (D.R. Congo) and Etna (Italy) volcanoes. Annals of Geophysics, Special Issue on Atmospheric Emissions from Volcanoes.ISSN: 2037-416X doi: 10.4401/ag-6753.

- Caliro S., Chiodini G., Galluzzo D., Granieri D., La Rocca M., Saccorotti G., Ventura G., 2005. Recent activity of Nisyros volcano (Greece) inferred from structural, geochemical and seismological data. Bull. Volcanol., 67(4), 358–369.

Caltabiano T., Burton M., Giammanco S., Allard P., Bruno N., Mure F., Romano R.,
2004. Volcanic gas emissions from the summit craters and flanks of Mt. Etna, 1987–
2000. In: Bonaccorso A, Calvari S, ColtelliM, Del Negro C, Falsaperla S (eds)Mt. Etna:
Volcano Laboratory AGU Geophys Monogr Ser 143.

- Campion R., 2014. New lava lake at Nyamuragira volcano revealed by combined ASTER and OMI SO₂ measurements. Geophys. Res. Lett., 41, 7485–7492.

- Campostrini I., Demartin F., Gramaccioli C.M., Russo M., 2011. Vulcano. Tre secoli di mineralogia. Associazione Micro-mineralogia - Italiana. Pag. 68, 72, 232.

- Capasso G., Favara R., Inguaggiato S., 1997. Chemical features and isotopic composition of gaseous manifestations on Vulcano Island, Aeolian Islands, Italy: an interpretative model of fluid circulation. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 61:3425–3440

 Caselli A.T., Agusto M.R., Fazio A., 2005. Cambios térmicos y geoquímicos del lago cratérico del volcán Copahue (Neuquén): Posibles variaciones cíclicas del sistema volcánico. In Proceedings of XVI Congreso Geológico Argentino, pp. 751–756, La Plata, Argentina.

- Chakrabarti R., Asish R., Basu A.R., Santo A. P., Tedesco D., Vaselli O., 2009. Isotopic and geochemical evidence for a heterogeneous mantle plume origin of the Virunga volcanics, Western rift, East African Rift system. Chemical Geology 259 273– 289.

- Chasteen T.G., Bentley R., 2003. Biomethylation of selenium and tellurium: microorganisms and plants. Chem. Rev. 103, 1-25.

- Chester D.K., Duncan A.M., Guest J.E., Kilbum, C.R.J., 1985. Mount Etna: The Anatomy of a Volcano. Chapman & Hall, London.

- Chester R., Stoner JH., 1973. Pb in particulates from the lower atmosphere of the eastern Atlantic. Nature 245:27–8.

- Cheynet B., Dall'Aglio M., Garavelli A., Grasso M.F., Vurro F., 2000. Trace elements from fumaroles at Vulcano Island (Italy): rates of transport and a thermochemical model. J Volcanol Geotherm Res 95:273–283.

Chiodini G., Brombach T., Caliro S., Cardellini C., Marini L., Dietrich V., 2002.
 Geochemical indicators of possible ongoing volcanic unrest at Nisyros Island (Greece).
 Geophysical Research Letters. Volume 29, Issue 16. Pages 6-1–6-4.

- Chiodini G., Cioni R., Marini L., 1993. Reactions governing the chemistry of crater fumaroles from Vulcano Island, Italy, and implications for volcanic surveillance. Appl Geochem 8:357–371

- Chiodini G., Cioni R., Marini L., Panichi C., 1995. Origin of the fumarolic fluids of Vulcano Island, Italy and implications for volcanic surveillance. Bull Volcanol 57:99–110

- Chiou K.Y., Manuel O.K., 1988. Chalcogen element in snow: relation to emission source. Environ. Sci. Technol. 22, 453-456.

- Chung C.-H., Iwamoto E., Yamamoto M., Yamanoto Y., 1984. Selective determination of arsenic (III, V), antimony (III, V), selenium, (IV, VI) and tellurium (IV, VI) by extraction and graphite furnace atomic absorption spectrometry. Spectrochim. Acta 39B, 459e466.

- Cohen B.L., 1984. Anomalous behavior of tellurium abundances. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta Vol. 48, pp. 203–205.

- Cooke D.R., McPhail D.C., 2001. Epithermal Au–Ag–Te mineralization, Acupan, Baguio district, Philippines: numerical simulations of mineral deposition. Econ. Geol. 96, 109–131.

-Cossa A., 1898. Sulla presenza del Tellurio nei prodotti dell'Isola di Vulcano. – Atti della Reale Accademia delle Scienze di Torino, 33, 8, 449.

- D'Alessandro W., Giammanco S., Parello F., Valenza M., 1997. CO_2 output and $\delta 13C$ (CO₂) from Mount Etna as indicators of degassing of shallow asthenosphere. Bull. Volcanol., 58, 455-458.

- Daskalopoulou K., Calabrese S., Milazzo S., Brusca L., Bellomo S., D'Alessandro W., Kyriakopoulos K., Tassi F., Parello F., 2014. Trace elements mobility in soils from the active hydrothermal area of Nisyros (Greece). Annals of Geophysics, Special Issue on Atmospheric Emissions from Volcanoes.Published by INGV, Istituto Nazionale di Geofisica e Vulcanologia - ISSN: 2037-416X doi: 10.4401/ag-6753

- Dave M., Pitre K.S., 1991. Voltammetric estimation of Te(IV) in some natural samples. Indian J. Chem. 30A, 198e199.

-Delmelle P., 2003. Environmental impacts of tropospheric volcanic gas plumes. In Volcanic Degassing, vol. 213 (eds. C. Oppenheimer, D. M. Pyle and J. Barclay). Geol. Soc. Lond. Spec. Publ., pp. 381–399.

- Delmelle P., Stix J., Baxter P.J., Garcia-Alvarez J., Barquero J., 2002. Atmospheric dispersion, environmental effects and potential health hazard associated with the low-altitude gas plume of Masaya volcano, Nicaragua. Bull. Volcanol. 64, 423–434.

- Delmelle P., Lambert M., Dufrênec Y., Gerin P., Óskarsson N., 2007. Gas/aerosol–ash interaction in volcanic plumes: New insights fromsurface analyses of fine ash particles. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 259. 159–170.

Delpino D. and Bermúdez A., 1993. La actividad del volcán Copahue durante 1992.
 Erupción con emisiones de azufre piroclástico, Provincia de Neuquen, Argentina. In
 Proceedings of XII Congreso Geológico Argentino, pp. 292–301, Mendoza, Argentina.

- Dolor M.K., Helz G.R., McDonough W.F., 2009. Sediment profiles of less commonly determined elements measured by laser Ablation ICP-MS. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 59, 182e192.

- Duce RA, Hoffmann GL, Zoller WH., 1975. Atmospheric trace metals at remote northern and southern hemisphere sites: pollution or natural? Science 187:59–61.

- D'Ulivo A., 1997. Determination of selenium and tellurium in environmental samples. Analyst 122, 117Re144R.

- El-Shahawi M.S., Al-Saidi H.M., Al-Harbi E.A., Bashammakh A.S., Alsibbai A.A., 2013. Speciation and determination of tellurium in water, soil, sediment and other environmental samples. In: Bakirdere, S. (Ed.), Speciation Studies in Soil, Sediment and Environmental Samples. CRC Press, pp. 527e544 (Chap. 14).

- Emsley J., 1992. The Elements, second ed. Clarendon Press, Oxford, p. 251.

- Emsley J., 1999. The Elements, 3rd corr. ed. Oxford Press.

- Eriksson J., 2001. Concentrations of 61 Trace Elements in Sewage Sludge, Farmyard Manure, Mineral Fertiliser, Precipitation and in Oil and Crops. Swedish Environmental Protection Agency No.5159, Stockholm.

- Favalli M., Innocenti F., Pareschi M.T., Pasquarè G., Mazzarini F., Branca S., Cavarra L., Tibaldi A., 1999. The DEM of Mt. Etna: Geomorphological and structural implications. Geodinamica Acta, Volume 12, Issue 5, p. 279-290.

- Fergusson J. E., 1990. The heavy elements: chemistry, environmental impact and health effects. Oxford: Pergamon.

- Ferrara V., 1975. Idrogeologia del versante orientale dell'Etna. In: Proc. Of the 3rd Intern. Conf. On Groundwaters, 91-144

- Filella M., 2013. Food for thought: a critical overview of current practical and conceptual challenges in trace element analysis in natural waters. Water 5, 1152e1171.

- Flaathen T.K.; Gislason S.R., 2007. The effect of volcanic eruptions on the chemistry of surface waters - The 1991 and 2000 eruptions of Mt. Hekla, Iceland. Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research Volume: 164, Issue: 4, August 1, 2007, pp. 293-316.

Floor G.H, Calabrese S., Roman-Ross G., D'Alessandro W., Aiuppa A., 2008.
 Volcanic soil-rainwater interaction at Mount Etna, Sicily. Preliminary Results. IAVCEI
 2008 General Assembly Reykjavík, Iceland.

- Forrest A., Kingsley R., Schilling J.G., 2009. Determination of Selenium and Tellurium in Basalt Rock Reference Materials by Isotope Dilution Hydride Generation-

Inductively Coupled Plasma-Mass Spectrometry (ID-HG-ICP-MS). Geostand. Geoanal. Res. 33, 261–269.

- Frogner P., Gislason S. R., and Oskarsson N., 2001. Fertilizing potential of volcanic ash in ocean surface water. Geology 29, 487–490.

Frogner K., Paul C., Herbert R.B.; Gislason S.R., 2006. A diverse ecosystem response to volcanic aerosols. Chemical Geology Volume: 231, Issue: 1-2, July 15, 2006, pp. 57-66

- Fulignati P., Sbrana A., 1998. Presence of native gold and tellurium in the active highsulfidation hydrothermal system of the La Fossa volcano (Vulcano, Italy). J Volcanol Geotherm Res, 86(1-4), 1998, pp. 187-198

- Fulignati P., Sbrana A., Clocchiatti R., Luperini W., 2006. Environmental impact of the acid fumarolic plume of a passively degassing volcano (Vulcano Island, Italy). Environ Geol (2006) 49: 1139–1155 DOI 10.1007/s00254-005-0158-0

- Fujino O., Hara K., Ikejima S., Goda S., 1997. Determination of tellurium in lake water by ICP-MS. Bunseki Kagaru 46, 857e862 (in Japanese).

- Garavelli A., Laviano R., Vurro F., 1997. Sublimate deposition from hydrothermal fluids at the Fossa crater, Vulcano, Italy. Eur J Mineral 9:423–432.

- Gauthier P.J., Le Cloarec M.F., 1998. Variability of alkali and heavy metal fluxes released by Mt. Etna volcano, Sicily, between 1991 and 1995. Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research 81 311–326

- Gauthier P.J., Sigmarsson O., Gouhier M., Haddadi B., Moune S., 2016. Elevated gas flux and trace metal degassing from the 2014–2015 fissure eruption at the Bárðarbunga volcanic system, Iceland. Journal of Geophysical Research. Solid Earth. Volume 121, Issue 3. Pages 1610–1630.

- Giggenbach W.F., 1996. Chemical composition of volcanic gases. In Monitoring and Mitigation of Volcanic Hazards, ed. M. Scarpa, R.J. Tilling, Springer, Heidelberg, pp. 221–256.

- Glemser O., Haeseler R.V., Mueller A., 1964. Über gasförmiges TeO(OH)₂. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 329, 51–55.

- Glemser O., Mueller A., Schwarzkopf H., 1965. Über die Reaktion von TeO₂ mit Wasserdampf bei höheren Drucken und Temperaturen. Naturwissenschaften 52, 129– 130. - Goldberg E.D., 1972. Baseline studies of pollutants in the marine environment and research recommendations, The International Decade of Ocean Exploration (IDOE) Baseline Conference, 24–26 May 1972. New York.

- Graf H.-F., Feichter J., Langmann B.R., 1997. Volcanic sulfur emissions: estimates of source strength and its contribution to the global sulfate distribution. J. Geophys. Res., 102, 727–738.

- Grasso M.F., Clocchiatti R., Carrot F., Deschamps C., Vurro F., 1999. Lichens as bioindicators in volcanic areas: Mt. Etna and Vulcano island (Italy). Environ Geol 37:207–217.

- Grenwood N.N., Earnshaw A., 1997. Chemistry of the elements. Reed educational and professional publishing, Oxford.

- Grundler P.V., Brugger J., Etschmann B.E., Helm L., Liu W., Spry P.G., Tian Y., Testemale D., Pring A., 2013. Speciation of aqueous tellurium(IV) in hydrothermal solutions and vapors, and the role of oxidized tellurium species in Te transport and gold deposition. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 120. 298–325.

- Hall G.E.M., Pelchat J.C., 1997. Analysis of Geological Materials for Bismuth, Antimony, Selnium andTellurium by Continuous Flow Hydride Generation Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry. J.Anal. At. Spectrom. 12, 103–106.

- Halmer M.M., Schmincke H.U., Graf F.F., 2002. The annual volcanic gas input into the atmosphere, in particular into the stratosphere: a global data set for the past 100 years. Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research, Volume 115, Issues 3–4, 30 June 2002, Pages 511-528.

- Hao X., Zhou D., Huang D., Cang L. Zhang H., Wang H, 2009. Heavy Metal Transfer from Soil to Vegetable in Southern Jiangsu Province, China. Pedosphere 19(3): 305– 311.

- Harada T., Takahashi Y., 2008. Origin of the difference in the distribution behavior of tellurium and selenium in a soil-water system. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 72, 1281–1294.

- Haynes W.M., ed., 2010. Handbook of chemistry and physics: 90th edition. Boca Raton, Chemical Rubber Company, 2804 p.

- Hein J.R., Koschinsky A., Halliday A.N., 2003. Global occurrence of tellurium-rich ferromanganese crusts and amodel for the enrichment of tellurium. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 67, 1117–1127.

- Helmy H. M., Ballhaus C., Berndt J., Bockrath C., Wohlgemuth-Ueberwasser C., 2007. Formation of Pt, Pd and Ni tellurides: experiments in sulfide–telluride systems. Contrib. Mineral. Petrol. 153, 577–591.

- Helmy H.M., Ballhaus C., Wohlgemuth-Ueberwasser C., Fonseca R.O.C., Laurenz V., 2010. Partitioning of Se, As, Sb, Te and Bi between monosulfide solid solution and sulfide melt – application to magmatic sulfide deposits. Geochim. Cosmochim.Acta 74(21), 6174–6179.

- Hinkley T. K., Lamothe P. J., Wilson S. A., Finnegan D. L., and Gerlach T. M., 1999. Metal emission from Kilauea and a suggested revision of the estimated worldwide metal output by quiescent degassing of volcanoes. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett. 170, 315–325.

Hirn A., Nicolich R., Galart J., Laigle M., Cernobori L., ETNASEIS Scientific Group, 1997. Roots of Etna volcano in faults of great earthquakes. Eart Planet. Sci. Lett., 148, 171-191

- Hoffmann J.E., King M.G., Carapella S.C., Oldfield J.E., Putnam R.D., 2011. Tellurium and tellurium compounds. Kirk-Othmer Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology.

- Hu Z.C., Gao S., Gunther D., Hu S.G., Liu X.M., Yuan H.L., 2006. Direct Determination of Tellurium in Geological Samples by Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry Using Ethanol as a Matrix Modifier. Appl.Spectrosc. 60, 781–785.

- Ivanova J., Djingova R., Korhammer S., Markert B., 2001. On the microwave digestion of soils and sediments for determination of lanthanides and some toxic and essential elements by inductively coupled plasma source mass spectrometry. Talanta Vol. 54, pp. 567–574.

- Johnson N., Parnell R.A. 1986. Composition, distribution and neutralization of "acid rain" derived from Masaya volcano, Nicaragua. Tellus 38B:106-117.

- Jović V., 1999. Tellurium. In: Encyclopedia of Geochemistry (Marshall C.P. and Fairbridge R.W., Eds). Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 621-622.

- Kabata-Pendias A., Mukhergee A.B., 2007. Trace Elements from Soil to Human. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg. - Kabata-Pendias A., Pendias H., 2000. Trace Elements in Soils and Plants. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, p. 315.

- Kachenko A. G., Singh B., 2006. Heavy metals contamination in vegetables grown in urban and metal smelter contaminated sites in Australia. Water Air Soil Poll. 169: 101–123.

- Kavalieris I., 1994. High Au, Ag, Mo, Pb, V and W content of fumarolic deposits at Merapi volcano, central Java, Indonesia. J Geochem Expl 50:479–491

- Kavlak G., Graedel T.E., 2013. Global anthropogenic tellurium cycles for 1940 – 2010. Resources, Conservation and Recycling 76, 21–26.

- Kölbl G., 1994. Concepts for the identification and determination of selenium compounds in the aquatic environment. Mar. Chem. 48, 185–197.

- Konig S., Luguet A., Lorand J.P., Wombacher F., Lissner M., 2012. Selenium and tellurium systematics of the Earth's mantle from high precision analyses of ultradepleted orogenic peridotites. Geochim.Cosmo- chim. Acta 86, 354–366.

- Korzhinsky M.A., Tkachenko S.I., Shmulovich K.I., Taran Y.A., Steinberg G.S., 1994. Discovery of a pure rhenium mineral at Kudriavy volcano. Nature 369:51–52

- Langmann B., 2013. Volcanic Ash versus Mineral Dust: Atmospheric Processing and Environmental and Climate Impacts. Hindawi Publishing Corporation ISRN Atmospheric Sciences Volume 2013, Article ID 245076, 17 pages

- Lee D.S., Edmond J.M., 1985. Tellurium species in seawater. Nature 313, 782e785.

- Le Guern R., 1988. Ecoulement gazeux reactifs a haute temperature, measures et modelisation. Ph. D. Thesis, University of Paris VII.

- Li Y., Liang T., Tang X., Liu X., Hu Z., Hu S., 2010. Direct determination of As, Se, Sb and Te in plants by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry using ethanol as a matrix modifiers. Chinese Journal of Analysis Laboratory 29(5), 29-32 (in Chinese).

- Lueth, 2016. Tellurium Minerals in New Mexico. New Mexico Geology, Volume 38, Number 1 .pages 17-23

- Makishima A., Nakamura E., 2009. Determination of Ge, As, Se and Te in Silicate Samples Using Isotope Dilution-Internal Standardisation Octopole Reaction Cell ICP-QMS by Normal Sample Nebulisation. Geostandards and Geoanalytical Research, 33, 369–384. Mangue J., 1978. La laguna del cráter del volcán Copahue (Provincia del Neuquén).
 Dinámica de su mineralización y relaciones con otras manifestaciones geotérmicas locales. In Proceedings of VII Congreso Geológico Argentino, pp. 151–175, Neuquen, Argentina.

- Marini L., Principe C., Chiodini G., Cioni R., Frytikas M., Marinelli G., 1993. Hydrothermal eruptions of Nisyros (Dodecanese, Greece). Past events and present hazard. J. Volcanol. Geotherm.

Res., 56, 71–95.

- Martin R.S., Mather T.A., Pyle D.M., Power M., Allen A.G., Aiuppa A., Horwell C.J., Ward E.P.W., 2008. Composition-resolved size distributions of volcanic aerosols in the Mt. Etna plumes. Journal of Geophysical Research 113, D17211.

Martin R.S., Mather T.A., Pyle D.M., Watt S.F.L., Day J., Collins S.J., Wright T.E., Aiuppa A., Calabrese S., 2009. Sweet chestnut (Castanea sativa) leaves as a bio-indicator of volcanic gas, aerosol and ash deposition onto the flanks of Mt Etna in 2005 - 2007. Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research, 179 (2009) 107–119.

- Martini M., Bermúdez A., Delpino D., Giannini L., 1997. The thermal manifestations of Copahue volcano area. Neuquén, Argentina. In Congreso Geológico Chileno, No. 8, Actas, vol. 1, pp. 352–356, Antofagasta, Chile.

- Mas G.R., Mas L.C., Bengochea L., 1996. Alteración ácido-sulfática en el Campo Geotérmico Copahue, Provincia del Neuquén. Rev. Asoc. Geol. Argent., 51(1), 78–86.

- Mas L.C., Mas G.R., Bengochea L., 2000. Heatflow of Copahue geothermal field, its relation with tectonic scheme. In Proceedings World Geothermal Congress, pp. 1419–1424, Tohoku, Japan.

- Mason B., Moore C.B., 1982. Principle of Geochemistry, 4th ed. Wiley, New York, pp. 46–47.

- Mather T.A., 2015. Volcanoes and the environment: Lessons for understanding Earth's past and future from studies of present-day volcanic emissions. Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research, Volume 304, Pages 160-179.

Mather T.A., Pyle D.M. and Oppenheimer C., 2003. Tropospheric volcanic aerosol, in volcanism and the Earth's atmosphere. In Volcanism and the Earth's Atmosphere (eds. A. Robock and C. Oppenheimer). Geophysical Monograph 139. pp. 189–212.

- Mather T.A., Witt M.L.I., Pyle D.M., Quayle B.M., Aiuppa A., Bagnato E., Martin R.S., Sims K.W.W., Edmonds M., Sutton A.J., Ilyinskaya E., 2012. Halogens and trace metal emissions from the ongoing 2008 summit eruption of Kilauea volcano, Hawai. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 83, 292–323. h

- Mc Phail D.C., 1995. Thermodynamic properties of aqueous tellurium species between 25 and 350°C. Geochim. Cosmochim., Acta 59, 851–866.

- Matusiewicz H., Krawczyk M., 2007. Determination of tellurium by hydride generation with in situ trapping flame atomic absorption spectrometry. Spectrochim. Acta B 62, 309-316.

- Moscoso-Pérez C., Moreda-Piñeiro J., López-Mahía P., Muniategui-Lorenzo S., Fernández -Fernández E., Prada-Rodríguez D., 2004a. As, Bi, Se(IV), and Te(IV) determination in acid extracts of raw materials and by-products from coal-fired power plants by hydride generation-atomic fluorescence spectrometry. At. Spectrosc. 25, 211e216.

- Moscoso-Pérez C., Moreda-Piñeiro J., López-Mahía P., Muniategui-Lorenzo S., Fernández -Fernández E., Prada-Rodríguez D., 2004b. Hydride generation atomic fluorescence spectrometric determination of As, Bi, Sb, Se(IV) and Te(IV) in aqua regia extracts from atmospheric particulate matter using multivariate optimization. Anal. Chim. Acta 526, 185e192.

- Moune S., Gauthier P.J., Delmelle P., 2010. Trace elements in the particulate phase of the plume of Masaya Volcano, Nicaragua. Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research 193(3): 232-244.

- Moune S., Gauthier P.J., Gislason S.R., Sigmarsson O., 2006. Trace element degassing and enrichment in the eruptive plume of the 2000 eruption of Hekla volcano, Iceland. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 70 461–479.

- Najafi N.M., Tavakoli H., Alizadeh R., Seidi S., 2010. Speciation and determination of ultra trace amounts of inorganic tellurium in environmental water samples by dispersive liquid-liquid microextraction and electrothermal atomic absorption spectrometry. Anal. Chim. Acta 670, 18e23.

- Nomikou P., Carey S., Croff Bell K. L., Papanikolaou D., Bejelou K., Alexandri M., Cantner K., Martin J. F., 2013. Morphological analysis and related volcanic features of the Kolumbo submarine volcanic chain (NE of Santorini Island, Aegean Volcanic Arc). Zeitschrift für Geomorphologie Vol. 57 (2013), Suppl. 3, 029-047

Notcutt G., Davies F., 1989. Accumulation of volcanogenic fluoride by vegetation:
 Mt. Etna, Sicily. J Volcanol Geotherm Res 39:329-333.

- Ouimette A.P., 2000. Hydrothermal processes at an active volcano, Copahue, Argentina. MA thesis, Wesleyan Univ., Middletown, Conn.

- Ogniben L., 1966. Lineamenti idrogeologici dell'Etna. Rivista mineraria Siciliana 100-102, 151-174.

- Oppenheimer C., 2003. Volcanic degassing. In: The crust (ed RL Rudnick) vol 3, Treatise on geochemistry (eds HD Holland & KK Turekian), Elsevier-Pergamon, Oxford, pp 123–166.

- Papadopoulos G., Sachpazi M., Panopoulou G., Stavrakakis G., 1998. The volcanoseismic crisis of 1996–97 in Nisyros, SE Aegean Sea, Greece, Terra Nova, 10(3), 151–154.

- Parnell R.A., 1986. Processes of soil acidification in tropical Durandepts, Nicaragua. Soil Sci. 42, 43–55.

- Parnell R.A., Burke K.J., 1990. Impacts of acid emissions from Nevado de Ruiz volcano, Colombia, on selected terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. J Volcanol Geotherm Re. 42:69-88.

- Peirson D.H., Cawse P.A., Cambray R.S., 1974. Chemical uniformity of airborne particulate material, and a maritime effect. Nature 251:675–9.

- Perkins W.T., 2011. Extreme selenium and tellurium contamination in soils e an eighty year-old industrial legacy surrounding a Ni refinery in the Swansea Valley. Sci. Total Environ. 412e413, 162e169.

Platz T., Foley S.F., André L., 2004. Low-pressure fractionation of the Nyiragongo volcanic rocks, Virunga Province, D.R. Congo. J.Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 136, pp. 269–295

- PohlW.L., 2011. Economic Geology: Principles and Practice. JohnWiley & Sons, Chichester, West Sussex, Hoboken, NJ (248 pp.).

- Qi W., Chen Y., Zhang Y., Chang M.-S., 1992. Tellurium contents in soils in China. Intern. J. Environ. Stud. 41, 263e266. - Rahn K.A., 1976. The chemical composition of the atmospheric aerosol. Technical Report of the Graduate School of Oceanography, University of Rhode Island, Kingston, R.I. USA.

- Reimann C., Caritat P., 1998. Chemical Elements in the Environment. Springer-Verlag, Berllin Heidelberg.

- Rodushkin I., Engstrom E., Sorlin D., Baxter D., 2008. Levels of inorganic constituents in raw nuts and seeds on the Swedish market. Science of the Total Environment, 392, 290–304.

- Roskill Information Services. The economics of tellurium. 3rd ed. London, England:Roskill Information Services Ltd.; 1982.

- Roskill Information Services. The economics of tellurium. 4th ed. London, England:Roskill Information Services Ltd.; 1991.

- Saunders J.A., Brueseke M.E., 2012. Volatility of Se and Te during subduction-related distillation and the geochemistry of epithermal ores of the Western United States. Economic Geology 107(1):165-172

- Schirmer T., Koschinsky A., Bau M., 2014. The ratio of tellurium and selenium in geological material as a possible paleo – redox proxy. Chemical Geology 376, pp. 44–51.

- Spry P.G., 2012. The Connection between Au and Te in Hydrothermal Gold Telluride Deposits. Thayer Lindsley Lecturer (Society of Economic Geologists).

- Stoiber R.E., Williams S.N., Huebert B., 1987. Annual contribution of sulfur dioxide to the atmosphere by volcanoes. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res.: 33, 1-8

- Symonds R.B., 1992. Getting the gold from the gas: how recent advances in volcanicgas research have provided new insight on metal transport in magmatic fluids. In: Hedenquist JW (ed) Magmatic contributions to hydrothermal systems. Report No. 279, Geological Survey of Japan, Tsukuba, pp 170–175.

- Symonds R.B., Gerlach T.M., Reed M.H., 2001. Magmatic gas scrubbing: implications for volcano monitoring. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 108, 303–341.

- Symonds R.B., Reed M.H., 1993. Calculation of multicomponent chemical equilibria in gas–solid–liquid systems: calculation methods, thermochemical data, and applications to studies of high-temperature volcanic gases with examples from mount St. Helens. Am J Sci 293:758–864. - Symonds R.B., Rose W.I., Reed M.H., Lichte F.E., Finnegan D.L., 1987. Volatilization, transport and sublimation of metallic and non-metallic elements in high temperature gases at Merapi Volcano, Indonesia. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 51:2083– 2101.

- Tamburello G., Agusto M., Caselli A., Tassi F., Vaselli O., Calabrese S., Rouwet D., Capaccioni B., Di Napoli R., Cardellini C., Chiodini G., Bitetto M., Brusca L., Bellomo S., Aiuppa A., 2015. Intense magmatic degassing through the lake of Copahue volcano, 2013–2014, J. Geophys. Res. Solid Earth, 120, doi:10.1002/2015JB012160

- Taran Y.A., Hedenquist J.W., Korzhinsky M.A., Tcachenko S.I., Shmulovich K.I., 1995. Geochemistry of magmatic gases from Kudryavy volcano, Iturup, Kurile Islands. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 59:1749–1761.

- Taran Y.A., Bernard A., Gavilanes J-C, Africano F., 2000. Native gold in mineral precipitates from high-temperature volcanic gases of Colima volcano, Mexico. Appl Geochem 15:337–346.

Taylor A., 1997. Biochemistry of Tellurium. Biological Trace Element Research, Vol.
55, pp 231-239

Tedesco D., Vaselli O., Papale P., Carn S. A., Voltaggio M., Sawyer G. M., Durieux J., Kasereka M., Tassi F., 2007. January 2002 volcano-tectonic eruption of Nyiragongo volcano, Democratic Republic of Congo. Journal of Geophysical Research: Solid Earth. Volume 112, Issue B9.

- Terashima S., 2001. Determination of Indium and Tellurium in Fifty Nine Geological Reference Materials by Solvent Extraction and Graphite Furnace Atomic Absorption Spectrometry. Geostand. Newsl. 25, 127–132.

- Tibaldi A., Pasquare F., Papanikolaou D., Nomikou P., 2008. Discovery of a huge sector collapse at the Nisyros volcano, Greece, by on-land and offshore geological-structural data, J. Volcanol. Geoth. Res., 177(2), 485–499,.

- US Geological Survey. Mineral commodity summaries 2012. Washington, DC: US Geological Survey; 2012.

- Varekamp J.C., DeMoor J.M., Merrill M.D., Colvin A.S., Goss A.R., 2006. Geochemistry and isotopic characteristics of the Caviahue–Copahue volcanic complex, Province of neuquen, Argentina. Geol. Soc. Am. Spec. Pap., 407, 317–342. - Varekamp J.C., Ouimette A.P., Herman S.W., Bermúdez A., Delpino D., 2001. Hydrothermal element fluxes from Copahue, Argentina: A "beehive" volcano in turmoil. Geological Society of America. v. 29; no. 11; p. 1059–1062.

Varekamp J. C., Ouimette A. P., Herman S. W., Flynn K. S., Bermudez A., Delpino D., 2009. Naturally acidwaters from Copahue volcano, Argentina. Appl. Geochem., 24, 208–220.

- Varekamp J.C., Ouimette A.P., Kreulen R., 2004. The magmato system at Copahue volcano, Argentina. In 11th Water-Rock Interaction Symposium, edited by R. B. Wanty and R. B. Seal II, pp. 215–218, Balkema, Leiden, Netherlands.

- Varrica D., Aiuppa A., Dongarra` G., 2000. Volcanic and anthropogenic contribution to heavy metal content in lichens from Mt. Etna and Vulcano island (Sicily). Environ Pollut 108:153–162.

- Ventura G. 1994. Tectonics, structural evolution and caldera formation on Vulcano island (Aeolian Archipelago, Southern Tyrrenian). J Volcanol Geotherm Res 60:206–224.

- Vougioukalakis G., 1993. Volcanic stratigraphy and evolution of Nisyros island. Bulletin of Geological Society of Greece 28, 239–258.

- Wallace P.J., 2005. Volatiles in subduction zone magmas: concentrations and fluxes based on melt inclusion and volcanic gas data. J. Volcanol. Geotherm. Res., 140, 217–240.

- Watt S.F.L., Pyle D.M., Mather T.A., Day J.A., Aiuppa A., 2007. The use of tree-rings and foliage as an archive of volcanogenic cation deposition. Environmental Pollution Volume: 148, Issue: 1, July, 2007, pp. 48-61.

- Wedepohl K.H., 1995. The composition of the continental crust. Geochimica et Cosmochima Acta, Vol. 59, No. 7, pp 1217-1232.

- Welnic W., Wuttig M., 2008. Reversible switching in phase-change materials. MaterialsToday;11:20–7.

- Witham C.S., Oppenheimer C., Horwell C.J., 2005. Volcanic ash-leachates: a review and recommendations for sampling methods. Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research 141, 299–326

- Yang, G., Zheng, J., Tagami, K., Uchida, S., 2013. Rapid and sensitive determination of tellurium in soil and plant samples by sector-field inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry. Talanta 116, 181–187.

- Yang G., Zheng J., Tagami K., Uchida S., 2014 Soil-to-crop transfer factors of tellurium. Chemosphere 111 (2014) 554–559

- Yoon B.M., Shim S.C., Pyun H.C., Lee D.S., 1990. Hydride generation atomic absorption determination of tellurium species in environmental samples with in situ concentration in a graphite furnace. Anal. Sci. 6, 561e566.

- Zajacz Z., Seo J.H., Candela P.A., Piccoli P.M., Heinrich C.A., Guillong M., 2010. Alkali metals control the release of gold from volatile-rich magmas: Earth and Planetary Science Letters, v. 297, p. 50–56.

- Zelenski M., Bortnikova S., 2005. Sublimate speciation at Mutnovsky volcano, Kamchatka. Eur J Mineral 17:107–118.

- Zelenski M.E., Fischer T.P., Maarten de Moor J., Marty B., Zimmermann L., Ayalewd D., Nekrasov A. N., Karandashev V. K., 2013. Trace elements in the gas emissions from the Erta Ale volcano, Afar, Ethiopia. Chemical Geology 357, pp. 95–116.

- Zelenski M.E., Malik N., Taran Y., 2014 - Emissions of trace elements during the 2012–2013 effusive eruption of Tolbachik volcano, Kamchatka: Enrichment factors, partition coefficients and aerosol contribution. Journal of Volcanology and Geothermal Research 285

- Zemann J., Leutwein F., 1978. Tellurium. Wedephol, K.H., ed., Handbook of Geochemistry: New York, Springer-Verlag,, p. 52-A-1–52-K1.

- Zoller W.H., Gladney E.S., Duce R.A., 1974. Atmospheric concentrations and sources of trace metals at the South Pole: Science, v. 183, p. 198-200.